

Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Operating Manual

Instructions for Use of AS9105, AS9205, AS9100, AS9101, AS9200 and AS9201



Table of Contents

1	Introduction		5
	1.1	Maxprep™ Liquid Handler	5
	1.2	Product Use	6
	1.3	Product Use Limitations	6
	1.4	Maxprep™ Liquid Handler Features	7
	1.5	Maxprep™ Liquid Handler Specifications	8
	1.6	Product Components	10
	1.7	Precautions	11
	1.8	Safety Symbols and Marking	12
	1.9	Environmental Requirements (Operating, Shipping and Storage	
		Conditions)	14
2	Hardware Ove	rview	15
	2.1	Hardware Features	16
	2.2	UV Light	17
	2.3	Labware Carriers	18
3	Setting Up the	Maxprep™ Liquid Handler	22
	3.1	Installing the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler	22
	3.2	Switching on the Maxprep [™] Liquid Handler	23
	3.3	Shutting Down the Maxprep [™] Liquid Handler	23
	3.4	Configuring the PC	23

4	Maxprep™ So	ftware	24
	4.1	'Home' Screen	24
	4.2	Software Settings	27
	4.3	Administrator Settings	
5	Operating the	e Maxprep™ Liquid Handler	54
	5.1	Maintenance	54
	5.2	Methods	
	5.3	Starting a Method	56
	5.4	Error Recovery	64
	5.5	Reports	67
	5.6	Accessing Reports	
6	Cleaning the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler		71
	6.1	Weekly Cleaning	71
	6.2	Dealing with Spills	73
7	Troubleshoot	ing	74
	7.1	Errors and Warnings	75
	7.2	Using a USB Flash Drive	76
8	Instrument Se	ervice	77
	8.1	Service	
	8.2	Maxprep™ Liquid Handler Service	
	8.3	Instrument Disposal	77

9 Warranties, Service Agreements and Related Products		78		
	9	9.1	Warranty	78
	9	9.2	Warranty and Service Agreement Options	78
	9	9.3	Related Products	81
10	Certificate o	of D	econtamination	82
11	Appendix: C	Conf	iguring the PC	
	1	1.1	Maxprep™ Liquid Handler and PC	83
	1	1.2	Glossary	84
	1	1.3	Adjusting Volume Settings	86
	1	1.4	Configuring Date and Time Settings	86
	1	1.5	Managing Local Windows® User Accounts	86
	1	1.6	Managing Maxprep [™] Access Levels for a	
			Windows® User Account	96
	1	1.7	Managing the Current Active Account	103
	1	1.8	Shutting Down and Restarting	
	1	1.9	Connecting to a Network	
	1	1.10	Adding a Network Printer	106
12	Summary o	of Cł	nanges	

All technical literature is available at: www.promega.com/protocols/

Visit the website to verify that you are using the most current version of this Technical Manual.

E-mail Promega Technical Services if you have questions on use of this system: **techserv@promega.com**

1.1 Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler provides automated methods for preprocessing of samples prior to nucleic acid purification on supported Maxwell[®] Instruments for a range of research sample types. In addition, the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler provides a variety of post-processing automated methods for handling and analysis of eluted nucleic acids. The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is designed for use by laboratory professionals. Up to 48 samples can be prepared in a single preprocessing run.

The instrument is controlled through a graphical user interface running on a PC. The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler has the ability to record and report sample tracking and method run data. The included automated and manual bar code readers can be used with the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler to capture bar code information for samples and reagents. The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler provides reports of the data gathered for instrument operations; reports can be printed and exported to a storage location or a USB drive for transfer to a separate computer. Sample tracking and run-specific information can also be tracked in the Promega Portal software to facilitate information transfer between the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler, GloMax[®] Instruments and supported Maxwell[®] Instruments. Reports of information contained within the Promega Portal software can be generated using the separate Portal Access reporting software (see the *Portal Access Software Technical Manual #*TM549). Exported data formats are flexible to facilitate importing into third-party instrumentation or Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS).

To start a run, the user selects the appropriate method and follows the instrument setup instructions displayed by the user interface including scanning or entering sample bar code information. For preprocessing methods, the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler prepares the samples for addition to Maxwell[®] cartridges, adds samples to the cartridges, adds elution buffer to the elution tubes, and transfers plungers to the Maxwell[®] deck trays. The deck trays containing prepared cartridges are manually transferred to the appropriate Maxwell[®] Instrument(s) for the purification run where sample tracking information that was entered can be retrieved from the Promega Portal software. For post-processing methods, the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler can start with samples in Maxwell[®] deck trays or other labware options for a variety of handling and analysis methods. Training on the use of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is provided during installation (see Section 9.2, Warranty and Service Agreement Options).

Note: The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler was previously offered under Cat.# AS9100, AS9101, AS9200 and AS9201, and is now available as Cat.# AS9105 and AS9205.

1.1.1 Supported Instruments

Instrument	Cat.#	Technical Manual
Maxwell® RSC	AS4500	TM411
Maxwell® RSC 48	AS8500	TM510
Maxwell [®] FSC	AS4600	TM462
Maxwell [®] CSC RUO Mode	AS6000	TM573
Maxwell [®] CSC 48 RUO Mode	AS8000	TM628
GloMax [®] Navigator	GM2000, GM2010	TM470
GloMax [®] Explorer	GM3500, GM3510	TM433
GloMax [®] Discover	GM3000	TM397

1.2 Product Use

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is exclusively designed to be used with Maxwell[®] reagent kits to perform automated preprocessing of samples prior to isolation of nucleic acids with supported Maxwell[®] Instruments. A variety of post-processing methods are available with the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler that are compatible with reagents from many external sources.

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is for research use only.

1.3 Product Use Limitations

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is not intended for use with purification kits other than Maxwell[®] nucleic acid purification kits or with samples other than those defined within the product limitations of the specific Maxwell[®] kit being used. Post-processing methods provided with the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler are tested for use with Promega reagents. It is the responsibility of the end-users to internally verify/validate that these methods perform to their needs with reagents from external sources.

1.4 Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Features

- Easy-to-use system
- Standardized sample preparation workflows
- Ability to create administrator-defined method variants
- Comprehensive technical support
- System controlled via PC and touch-screen monitor
- Run-specific and sample-specific reporting functionality
- Preprogrammed methods for preprocessing and post-processing of samples
- Included bar code reader and manual bar code scanner

1.5 Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Specifications

1.5.1 Instrument Specifications

Desktop PC	Windows® 10 operating system with Ethernet connection to instrument, wired connectivity to local network
Communication	Ethernet
Weight	Approximately 220lb (98.6kg)
Dimensions (W × D × H)	42.1 × 27.8 × 33 inches (106.9 × 70.6 × 83.3cm) height with door open: 48.4 inches (123cm)
Power Requirements	Input: 100–240VAC, 50/60Hz, 5A Output: 42VDC ± 5%, 600W max 250VAC, 5A, low breaking capacity, time-lag fuse (AC250V, T5AL, 5 × 20mm)
Operating Temperature Relative Humidity Altitude	15–35°C (59–95°F) 30% to 85% non-condensing 0–2,000m above sea level
Storage Temperature Relative Humidity	-20° to 70°C 10% to 90% non-condensing
UV Bulb	Average lifetime approximately 10,000 hours, length 9.2in (233mm base face to face, diameter 15mm, 11W, 0.43A current, 25.6V, UV-C, UV output 32W at 1 meter)
Regulatory Compliance	For Research Use Only. Not for use in Diagnostic Procedures.
CE Compliance	Pollution degree 2. Installation category II. Indoor use only. Main supply voltage fluctuations are not to exceed >10% of the nominal supply voltage. This instrument complies with the requirements of the EU Directives for electromagnetic compatibility (EMC Directive) and for electrical safety (LVD). Compliance with the relevant directives was demonstrated by third-party testing to the appropriate EN and IEC standards. The product bears the CE mark on its label as evidence of compliance, and an EU Declaration of Conformity for the product is available from Promega on request.

1.5.2 Pipetting Specifications

Liquid Level Detection	Capacitive Liquid Level Detection
Independent Channels	Pressure Liquid Level Detection
Shaking	3mm Orbit Up to 2500rpm Temperature range ambient to 105°C



Note: Pipetting specifications are determined gravimetrically using a calibration verification solution and under controlled environmental conditions. Results may vary using other liquids or environmental conditions.

Pipetting Specifications	Disposable Tips Size	Volume	Accuracy (%)	Precision (%CV)
for Channels		1µl	5.0%	5.0%
	50µl	5µl	2.5%	2.0%
		50µl	2.0%	1.0%
		10µl	5.0%	2.5%
	300µl	50µl	2.0%	1.0%
		300µl	1.0%	1.0%
		10µl	7.5%	3.5%
	1000µl	100µl	2.0%	1.0%
		1000µl	1.0%	1.0%

Gantry Bar Code Scanner Supported Symbologies.

1D Bar Codes	UPC/EAN/JAN, Codabar, Interleaved 2 of 5, Code 39, Code 128, Code 93
2D Bar Codes	QR Code, DataMatrix

Notes:

- a. To present bar codes for reading by the gantry bar code scanner, bar code labels should be placed on the sample tubes and visible when the sample tube is placed within a Sample Tube Carrier. We recommend providing 1mm of white space around the bar code edge.
- b. For DataMatrix bar codes, we recommend a maximum bar code size of 6mm × 13mm with minimum bar code feature size of 0.51mm.

1.6 Product Components

PRODUCT	CAT.#
Maxprep™ Liquid Handler, RSC Carriers	AS9105
Maxprep™ Liquid Handler, RSC 48 Carriers	AS9205

Cat.# AS9105 is provided with 16-position Maxwell[®] deck tray carriers (compatible with Maxwell[®] RSC, FSC and CSC Instruments).

Cat.# AS9205 is provided with 24-position Maxwell® front and back deck tray carriers (compatible with Maxwell® RSC 48 and CSC 48 Instruments).

Notes:

- a. Maxwell[®] RSC carriers are compatible with all supported 16-position Maxwell[®] Instruments. Additional carriers can be purchased regardless of Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler configuration to support all Maxwell[®] Instruments.
- b. The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler was previously offered under Cat.# AS9100, AS9101, AS9200 and AS9201, and is now available as Cat.# AS9105 and AS9205. Cat.# AS9105 is equivalent to Cat.# AS9101. Cat.# AS9205 is equivalent to Cat.# AS9201.

Includes:

- 1 Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler
- 3 10mm Sample Tube Carriers
- 3 12–13mm Sample Tube Carriers
- 3 15–17mm Sample Tube Carriers
- 1 Box of Maxprep[™] 50µl Conductive Disposable Tips, Filtered (5 × 96)
- 1 Box of Maxprep[™] 300µl Conductive Disposable Tips, Filtered (5 × 96)
- 1 Box of Maxprep[™] 1000µl Conductive Disposable Tips, Filtered (5 × 96)
- 1 Box of Maxprep[™] Reagent Reservoirs, 50ml (28 reservoirs)
- 2 Maxwell[®] Deck Tray Carriers
- 3 Reagent Reservoir Carriers
- 1 Utility Carrier (for Heater Shaker, tools and plates)
- 1 Tip and Plate Carrier
- 1 Heater Shaker
- 4 Plunger Tools
- 2 Gripper Paddles
 - 1 Maxprep[™] Accessory Kit
 - 1 PC preloaded with Maxprep[™] Software
 - 1 Ethernet cable for connection of Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler to PC
 - 1 USB-Ethernet Adapter
 - 1 Power Cable for Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler
 - 1 Power Cord for PC
 - 1 Power Cord for PC Monitor
 - 1 Manual Bar Code Reader
 - 2 Maxprep[™] Plunger Holders
 - 6 Maxprep[™] 3-Position Reagent Tube Holders

1.7 Precautions

Important Safety Instructions. Save these instructions.

- Changes or modifications to this unit not expressly approved by the party responsible for compliance could void the user's authority to operate the equipment.
- This equipment has been designed and tested to CISPR 11 Class A. It may cause radio interference, in which case you may need to take measures to mitigate the interference.
- Do not use this device in proximity to sources of strong electromagnetic radiation (e.g., unshielded intentional RF sources), as these may interfere with the proper operation.
- Do not use this instrument for anything other than its designed purpose.
- Always disconnect the power to the instrument and the PC before cleaning or performing routine maintenance.
- Do not disassemble unit.
- Ensure that any deck setup instructions are faithfully followed. Failure to do so may result in damage to the instrument.
- Use only Promega Maxwell[®] branded and supplied cartridges, plungers and elution tubes. Use only Promega-supplied consumables (e.g., tips, troughs, preprocessing plates).
- Do not reuse cartridges, plungers or elution tubes.
- If the equipment is used in a manner other than that specified by Promega, the protection provided by the equipment may be impaired.
- During some processing methods, the heated shaker at the back left corner of the instrument becomes very hot. Do not touch.
- Do not attempt to lift or move the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler should only be moved by a trained Promega representative.
- Equipment can be hazardous due to the use of chemical and biohazardous substances.
- Do not override the door sensor.
- This instrument can be used with potentially biohazardous materials. Use appropriate personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves, safety goggles, lab coat, etc.) for handling and disposing of biohazardous materials.
- Loading nonessential software programs on the PC supplied with Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is not recommended. We cannot guarantee compatibility of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software with other third-party software programs. Additional programs may also cause the application to slow down.
- Do not use any software other than the Maxprep[™] software to control the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.

1.8 Safety Symbols and Marking

Important Safety Instructions. Save these instructions.

Safety Symbols and Markings		
	Warning. Risk of personal injury to the operator or a safety hazard to the instrument or surrounding area.	
	Warning. Hot surface. Burn hazard.	
	Warning. Biohazard.	
	Warning. UV light hazard. Do not look directly at the UV light.	

Symbols	Explanation
REF	Catalog Number
SN	Serial Number
	Manufacturer
X	Consult your local Promega Representative regarding instrument disposal WEEE Directive (European Community directive 2002/96/EC on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment)
260440	Test Certification
CE	CE Compliance Marked
EC REP	Representative in the European Community
9	Device is China RoHS-compliant
(!)	Important Information

1.9 Environmental Requirements (Operating, Shipping and Storage Conditions)

Power Requirements	100-240VAC, 50/60Hz, 5A
Temperature	-20 to 70°C (shipping/storage), 15-35°C (operation)
Humidity	30–85% relative humidity, non-condensing (operation) 10–90% non-condensing (storage)
Operating Altitude	<2000 meters

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is intended for indoor use only. Wipe up spills immediately. To avoid shortening the expected lifespan of the instrument, install in a location that meets the following criteria:

- Locate on a sturdy, level surface capable of stably supporting 350lb.
- Avoid dusty areas.
- Choose a location that has good air circulation and is not exposed to direct sunlight.
- Avoid electrically noisy power sources (e.g., power generators).
- Do not install in a location where there is large temperature variability or high humidity.
- Do not position the instrument so that it is difficult to unplug from the power source.
- Do not place next to heat sources.
- Do not use near flammable gases or liquids.
- Allow at least 6 inches (15.25cm) clearance on all sides of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.
- Do not place near other electrically sensitive instruments. Allow at least 6 inches (15.25cm) on all sides of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.
- Connect the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler and PC to a power outlet. Promega recommends that you plug the instrument and PC into an uninterruptible power supply.

2 Hardware Overview

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler (Figure 1) is a fully enclosed four-channel pipetting system designed to automate sample preprocessing and deck tray preparation for a variety of Maxwell[®] chemistries and post-processes for storage, normalization, and analysis of nucleic acid eluates. The front of the instrument has a large door for access to the inside of the system. To open the door, grip the handle, pull towards you, and then slide the door upwards. To close the door, grip the handle, pull towards you, slide the door downwards, and then push the door inward at the bottom of its vertical motion. When the instrument is in operation, door locks prevent access to the inside of the instrument. In the lower front corner of the instrument is the power button. Select the power button to turn the instrument on/off.



Figure 1. Front of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.

2.1 Hardware Features

The gantry system on the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler has four independently-controlled pipetting channels, which can support a 1µl to 1ml volume range using 50, 300 and 1000µl disposable tips. These channels are capable of liquid level sensing. The pipetting channels of the instrument can retrieve tools to perform other tasks including transferring plungers to Maxwell[®] cartridges and moving plates within the instrument. Included on the front arm of the gantry is a 1D/2D bar code reader that can automate the process of reading tube bar codes that are loaded on the system in tube carriers.



Figure 2. Gantry system on the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler. The gantry system on the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler houses the four pipetting channels on the system. On the front arm of the gantry is the 1D/2D bar code reader.

In the back left corner of the instrument are the heater shaker and the tool rack that houses the gripper paddles and plunger tools (Figure 3). When placing the gripper paddles in the tool rack, make sure the magnet and pins on each paddle are facing toward the center of the tool rack.



Figure 3. Heater shaker and tool rack. Panel A. The heater shaker is in the back left corner of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. In front of the heater shaker is the tool rack that houses the plunger tools and gripper paddles. **Panel B.** Plunger tools are shown at the top of the image and gripper paddles at the bottom of the image. When placing gripper paddles in the tool rack make sure the magnet and pins on each paddle are facing toward the center of the tool rack.

2.2 UV Light

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is provided with a UV light system. UV lights are present on the top left and top right side of the instrument enclosure. The UV lights, in addition to regular cleaning of the instrument, can be used for sanitization. A **Sanitization** maintenance method is included in the Maxprep[™] software to perform UV treatment of the system for an administrator-defined time period. UV sanitization can only be performed with the instrument door closed. If necessary, replace the UV lights on the system only with Promega Maxprep[™] UV Lamp bulbs (Cat.# AS9310).

2.3 Labware Carriers

Provided with the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler are a variety of carriers that hold the labware needed to perform preprocessing and post-processing methods (Figure 4). The configuration of the carriers on the instrument is designed to be consistent among Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler methods. The instrument platform is divided into 30 tracks. On the metallic plate at the front of the instrument you can see the individual tracks with tracks 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 indicated. The tracks are used as reference positions when placing carriers on the system. To remove carriers from the instrument, grasp the handle on the carrier and pull it straight out toward you, supporting the bottom of the carrier as you remove it from the system. When adding carriers to the instrument, support the bottom of the carrier and place the back edge of the carrier on the track positions at the front of the instrument; then slide the carrier straight back until it touches the backstop of the instrument. Below is a table indicating the carriers provided with the system and their track positions and functions.

Carrier Type	Number Provided	Track Positions	Function
Utility Carrier	1	1-6	Static carrier (cannot be removed from system) with heater shaker and tool rack at the back two sites and two plate positions at the front two sites.
Maxwell® Deck Tray Carriers (2) [either 16-position or 24-position deck trays, depending on catalog number purchased]	2	7-12 14-19	Removable carriers that hold Maxwell [®] deck trays. There are three types of Maxwell [®] Deck Tray Carriers available: the Maxprep [™] Carrier, Maxwell [®] RSC, that is used for 16-position Maxwell [®] Deck Trays, and the Maxprep [™] Carrier, Maxwell [®] RSC 48 Front and Back, that are used for 24-position Maxwell [®] Front and Back Deck Trays. On the left top side of the carrier is a removable magnet that interfaces with elution tubes on the Maxwell [®] deck tray to help remove residual resin from eluates when pipetting from these positions. Underneath the deck tray are two plate positions. For some methods, it may be necessary to remove the magnet from the carrier in order to use the plate positions. A reagent carrier is placed between the Maxwell [®] deck tray carriers to provide appropriate spacing on the instrument. The 24-position Maxwell [®] deck tray carriers are keyed to accept either the 24-position Maxwell [®] Front deck tray or 24-position Maxwell [®] Back deck tray.

Carrier Type	Number Provided	Track Positions	Function
Maxprep™ Reagent Carriers	3	13, 20, 21	Removable reagent reservoir carriers hold reagents required for each method run. These carriers have four sites and each site can hold either a Maxprep [™] Reagent Reservoir, 50ml, or Maxprep [™] 3-Position Reagent Tube Holders.
Maxprep™ Carriers, Sample Tubes	9 • Maxprep [™] Carrier, 15–17mm Sample Tubes (3) • Maxprep [™] Carrier, 12–13mm Sample Tubes (3) • Maxprep [™] Carrier, 10mm Sample Tubes (3)	22, 23, 24	Removable tube racks can hold primary sample tubes and elution storage tubes. Provided with the system are three types of tube carriers that can accommodate a variety of tube types: large diameter 15–17mm tubes (16), small diameter 12–13mm tubes (16), 1.5ml flip-cap tubes or 2.0ml screw-cap tubes (16).
Maxprep™ Carrier, Tips and Plate	1	25-30	The tip carrier has a plate position at the back site of the carrier and three tip rack positions at the front three sites of the carrier. The types of tips (50, 300 or 1,000µl) are determined by the method being run and are detailed in the technical manuals for the chemistry methods.



Figure 4. Internal components of the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler. The hardware components inside the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler. Carriers on the instrument can hold primary sample tubes (10mm diameter, 12–13mm diameter or 15–17mm diameter), Maxwell® deck trays (16-position Maxwell® deck trays [2], or Front and Back 24-position Maxwell® deck trays), processing plates, tips and Maxwell® plunger racks. The heater shaker device is capable of shaking incubation of samples in Nunc 2.0ml Deep Well Plates as required by any individual processing method.

On the right side of the instrument, past track 30 is a waste position with a black removable tip eject bar at the back and a calibration block at the front (Figure 5). Underneath the tip eject bar are two probes that are used for maintenance procedures. During these procedures, the system will prompt the user to remove the tip eject bar to expose these probes. When running preprocessing and post-processing methods on the instrument, the tip eject bar should always be in place; make sure the tip eject bar is returned to the system in the orientation shown in Figure 5. The pin on the waste position should fit in the small hole at the front of the tip eject bar, the large cut out should be at the back of the instrument and the angled side of the tip eject bar should be on the right side and facing downward toward the waste bin.

Used tips should be disposed of appropriately according to your institution's procedures for hazardous and biohazardous waste. To the right of the waste position is a black removable plastic waste bin that is for disposal of used tips. Waste bags are provided with the system to line the plastic waste bin and collect used tips. Reorder Maxprep[™] Waste Bags, Clear, from Promega (Cat.# AS9305). When removing the waste bin, lift it out toward the right while angling up the right side of the bin to avoid hitting the tip eject bar. Return the waste bin to the system by angling it under the tip eject bar and placing the bin in position.



Figure 5. Waste position and plastic waste bin. To the right of the carriers is a waste position that has a removable black tip eject bar as well as a calibration block. On the far right side of the instrument is a removable black plastic waste bin that is used for disposal of used tips.

3.1 Installing the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler will be installed by a trained Promega representative. Prior to installation, identify a location for the instrument that conforms to the environmental requirements in Section 1.9 and the Maxprep[™] Site Preparation Document sent by Promega.

We recommend connecting the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler, PC and Monitor to an uninterruptible power supply. In order to use the Portal sample tracking functionality, we recommend connecting the PC to your internal network.



Prior to installing the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler, consult with your IT department to evaluate any concerns or limitations with connecting the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler PC and any Maxwell[®] Tablet PCs to your network. Contact Promega Technical Services if further assistance is needed.

Recommended Domain policy settings when the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler PC is connected to your internal network

Ensure that domain policies for the PC adhere to the following:

- Disable automatic Windows® updates.
- Virus scanning programs can interfere with the operation of the instrument. Please disable virus scanning programs, manually perform virus scans, or schedule virus scanning outside of working hours. When placed on a site domain, contact your IT department to ensure that domain policies are amended such that the Maxprep[™] software is excluded from virus scanning software.
- Disable automatic power off, sleep or hibernation settings.
- Disable "Fast Startup". Set the power button to Shut Down, not Sleep.
- Disable any other automatically or manually started software that would consume PC resources during operation.

3.2 Switching on the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler has two power switches: a rocker switch that is located next to the power cable connection behind the right access hatch, and a power button located on the right front side of the instrument. After installation, the rocker switch behind the right access hatch should be left in the on position.

Press the power button on the right front side of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler to turn on the instrument (Figure 6). After turning on the instrument, wait at least 1 minute after the green light on the gantry bar code scanner is illuminated before starting the Maxprep[™] Application Software or any methods. Press the PC power button to turn on the PC . Start the Maxprep[™] Application Software by double-clicking the icon on the PC desktop.



Figure 6. On/Off switch.

3.3 Shutting Down the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler

- 1. Shut down the Maxprep[™] software by selecting the **X** in the upper right corner of the user interface.
- 2. Turn off the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler by pressing the power button on the right front side of the instrument.
- 3. Shut down the PC using the Windows[®] 10 shut down procedure: select the Windows[®] **Start** button in the lower left corner of the screen, select the power icon from the left side of the Start menu and select **Shut Down**.

3.4 Configuring the PC

Your Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is controlled by Maxprep[™] software running on a PC with a touch-screen monitor. The PC should be configured to meet the needs of your site, including adding users, specifying access-levels for users, connecting to a network and adding network printers. Instructions for configuring the PC can be found in the Appendix of this user manual.

4.1 'Home' Screen

The 'Home' screen is the main launching pad for interaction with the functionalities built into the Maxprep[™] User Interface. The 'Home' screen (Figure 7) contains four buttons:

Start	Selecting the Start button on the 'Home' screen will begin the process of preparing a method run on the Maxprep [™] Liquid Handler (see Section 5.3, Starting a Method).
Results	Selecting the Results button opens the 'Results' Screen, where it is possible to review, print and export any of the run reports from previous chemistry and maintenance processes that have been performed on this instrument module (see Section 5.5, Reports, and Section 5.6, Accessing Reports).
Maintenance	Selecting the Maintenance button opens the 'Maintenance' screen. From this screen you can perform Daily and Weekly Maintenance tasks or a UV sanitization of the system (if the system has been purchased with the UV light option; see Section 5.1, Maintenance).
Settings	Selecting the Settings button opens the 'Settings' screen, which includes functions to view Instrument Info, Export Logs and set administrator-specific instrument settings with Administrator (only available to users with Administrator-level access to the Maxprep [™] software; see Section 4.2, Software Settings, and Section 4.3, Administrator Settings).



Figure 7. Maxprep[™] software 'Home' screen. On this screen are buttons to Start a method, view Results, run Maintenance methods and adjust software Settings.

The instrument name appears in the title bar of the user interface. The following navigation buttons are displayed across the top of the user interface screen:

	Home	From any screen other than the 'Home' screen, select this icon to return to the 'Home' screen.
E	Back	When active, selecting the Back button will return the interface to the screen accessed prior to the current screen.
*	Portal	When visible, the Portal icon indicates that the Maxprep [™] software is connected to the Portal software.
	Portal Error	When visible, the Portal icon with a red circle containing an exclamation point indicates that the connection to Portal software has been lost. Results from the last run will be exported to Portal software when the connection is restored. Disable Portal sample tracking to run methods until connection is returned, and then reactivate Portal sample tracking.
_	Minimize	This button will minimize the Maxprep [™] software to an icon in the Windows [®] task bar. Select the task bar icon to restore the Maxprep [™] software screen.
	Resize	The Resize button toggles between displaying the Maxprep [™] software maximized on the screen or resized.
?	Help	Access context-sensitive help by selecting this button.
	Exit	When active, selecting the Exit button will close the Maxprep [™] software and return users to the Windows [®] operating system.

4.2 Software Settings

Within the Maxprep[™] software, it is possible for all users to access instrument-specific information and export log files. In addition, users with Administrator-level access to the Maxprep[™] software can modify software options to tailor the behavior of the software to the needs of their laboratory. Below are sections that describe the functionalities that are accessible from the **Settings** button on the 'Home' screen of the Maxprep[™] software.

The appearance of the 'Settings' screen (Figure 8) is tailored to the Maxprep[™] software access level assigned to the Windows[®] user account (see Appendix). A Windows[®] user account with user-level access to the Maxprep[™] software will see the buttons **Instrument Info** and **Export Logs.** A Windows[®] user account with administrator-level access to the Maxprep[™] software will additionally see an **Administrator** button. From this screen the operator can access the instrument functionalities described below.



Figure 8. Maxprep[™] 'Settings' screen. From this screen various instrument-specific functions can be accessed. The Administrator button will be displayed only for Windows[®] user accounts with administrator-level access to the Maxprep[™] software.

4.2.1 Instrument Info

Select the **Instrument Info** button to display software and instrument-specific information for this Maxprep[™] Instrument on an 'About Maxprep[™]' screen (Figure 9). The information shown on this screen includes:

- Maxprep[™] Software Version: the Maxprep[™] software version installed on the PC
- **Maxprep™ Software Revision:** the Maxprep[™] software revision number of the software version installed on the PC
- Instrument Software Version: the instrument control software version installed on the PC
- Maxprep[™] Name: the name that an administrator has assigned to this instrument
- Maxprep[™] Serial Number: the serial number of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler

ABOUT MAXPI	REP™ ?
Maxprep Software Version:	1.1.0
Maxprep Software Revision:	169
Instrument Software Version	: 1.0.9.0
Maxprep Name:	Maxprep Instrument
Maxprep Serial Number:	NMBSHE2354
ОК	

Figure 9. 'About Maxprep™' screen. Instrument- and software-specific information are displayed on this screen.

4.2.2 Export Logs

The **Export Logs** button will export instrument logs for troubleshooting purposes. When contacting Promega Technical Services for troubleshooting assistance, collect these logs and include them along with a description of your problem.

- 1. Select the **Export Logs** button to display the 'Export Logs' screen (Figure 10, Panel A). Select the path to which instrument logs should be exported.
- 2. Using the Yellow and Red rectangle buttons you can select the folder location where the instrument logs will be saved. The current path is indicated by the yellow rectangles at the top of the 'Export Logs' screen. Any folders present within the selected directory are displayed as red rectangles in the main portion of the screen. Select the **Drive**\ button to navigate to the drive location of the desired folder. Select the red folder buttons to navigate to the desired folder location.

Note: Additional historical logs are available on the Maxprep[™] PC folder at: C:\ProgramData\Promega\Maxprep\Logs

- 3. Once a path has been defined, select the **OK** button to export logs to the specified path, or select **Cancel** to return to the 'Settings' screen without exporting logs.
- 4. After selecting the **OK** button, the 'Export' screen is displayed, indicating that the log files were successfully exported to the specified path (Figure 10, Panel B). Select **Open** on the 'Export' screen to open the folder location containing the exported logs.
- 5. Select **Done** to close the 'Export' screen and return to the 'Settings' screen.

Instrument logs will be exported as a zip file to the path that was specified by the operator. The zip file of the logs should be retrieved from the specified location and sent to a Promega Technical Services representative for further troubleshooting.



Figure 10. Export Logs. Panel A. The 'Export Logs' screen is displayed after selecting the **Export Logs** button. Specify a path to which the instrument log files should be exported. Select **OK** to export instrument logs to the specified location or **Cancel** to return to the 'Settings' screen without exporting logs. **Panel B.** After instrument log files are exported, the 'Export' screen is displayed, indicating that logs have been saved to the specified path. Select **Open** to view the folder location of the exported instrument log files. Select **Done** to exit the 'Export' screen and return to the 'Settings' screen.

4.3 Administrator Settings

Software settings for the Maxprep[™] software can be accessed by Windows[®] user accounts with administrator-level access to the Maxprep[™] software using the **Administrator** button on the 'Settings' screen. From the 'Settings' screen, select the **Administrator** button to open the 'Administrator' screen.

The functions available from the 'Administrator' screen allow users with administrator-level access to the Maxprep[™] software to customize the behavior of the Maxprep[™] software to the needs of their laboratory. Buttons on the 'Administrator' screen allow the administrator to: manage **Methods** installed in the software, import or delete **Labware**, **Manage Kits** installed in the software, configure **Preferences** for the Maxprep[™] software, define an **Instrument Name** for this Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler and view user-readable **Audit Records**. The behavior of each button on the 'Administrator' screen is detailed below. Follow the instructions below to adapt the behavior of the Maxprep[™] software to the needs of the laboratory, or refer to any individual subsection to address a specific setting.

 To return to the 'Home' screen from any other screen, select the Home button in the upper left corner of the screen. From the 'Home' screen of the Maxprep[™] software (Figure 11), select the Settings button.



Figure 11. Maxprep[™] 'Home' screen. Selecting the Home button from any screen will return users to the 'Home' screen.



Note: If the Administrator

button is not visible, log out of the Windows® operating system as this user and log back in with user credentials that have administrator access rights within the Maxprep™ software. If the current operator logged into the PC has administrator access rights within the Maxprep[™] software, the 'Settings' screen (Figure 12) displays an **Administrator** button. On the 'Settings' screen, select the **Administrator** button to proceed to the 'Administrator' screen (Figure 13).



Figure 12. Maxprep[™] 'Settings' screen. The Administrator button will only be visible if the currently logged-in operator has administrator-level rights within the Maxprep[™] software.



Figure 13. Maxprep™ 'Administrator' screen. This screen is only visible to operators with administrator-level rights to the Maxprep™ software and gives access to customize the behavior of several aspects of the Maxprep™ system.

4.3.1 Methods

View the methods currently installed in the Maxprep[™] software on the 'Methods' screen (Figure 14) by selecting the **Methods** button from the 'Administrator' screen (Figure 13).

€			METHODS				*-	. 🗖 🤅	? 🗶
METHOD		NAME 📥	DESCRIPTION	TYPE	SAMPLE TYPE	CATALOG ID	VERSION		
IMPORT		FFPE Lysis Reaction Preparation	This method will perform the lysis reaction setup for both AS1440	Pre-Processing	Universal	None	1.1.0	10	×
FILTER		Maxwell® RSC Blood DNA	The Maxwell® RSC Blood DNA Kit is designed for optimal automa.	Pre-Processing	DNA	A\$1400	1.1.0	1	×
Method Type		Maxwell® RSC ccfDNA Plasma	The Maxwell® RSC cctDNA Plasma Kit is used with the Maxwell®	Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1460	1.1.0	10	×
Pre-processing Post-processing		Maxwell® RSC DNA FFPE	The Maxwell® RSC DNA FFPE Kit is used with the Maxwell® RSC L	Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1450	110	1	×
Sample Type		Maxwell® RSC miRNA Tissue	The Maxwell® RSC miRNA Tissue Kit is used with the Maxwell® R.	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1460	1.1.0	t	×
DNA		Maxwell® RSC RNA FFPE	The Maxwell® RSC RNA FFPE Kit is used with the Maxwell® RSC L.	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1440	110	10	×
RNA		Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood	The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood Kit, used with the Maxwell®	Pre-Processing	RNA	A\$1380	1.1.0	1	×
Universal		Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Cells	The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Cells Kit. used with the Maxwell®	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1390	110	10	×
Favorites		Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Tissue	The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Tissue Kit, used with the Maxwell®.	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1340	110	1	×
Keyword		Maxwell® RSC Whole Blood DNA	The Maxwell® RSC Whole Blood DNA Kit is a simple, automated	Pre-Processing	DNA	A\$1520	110	10	×
		Maxwell®RSC Viral Total Nucleic Acid	The Maxwell® RSC Viral Total Nucleic Acid Purification Kit is desig.	Pre-Processing	Universal	AS1330	110	10	×
		Normalization	This method will normalize samples to a target concentration and	Post-processing	Universal	None	1.1.0	10	×
		PCR Setup	This method will setup endpoint PCR reactions.	Post-processing	DNA	None	1.1.0	t	×
		QuantiFluor Dye Quantitation	Fluorescent dye quantitation for nucleic acids in solutions.	Post-processing	Universal	None	1.1.0	1	×
	$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$	Quantitative PCR Setup	This method will setup quantitative PCR reactions.	Post-processing	DNA	None	1.1.0	1	×

Figure 14. 'Methods' screen. This screen displays a list of the methods installed in the Maxprep[™] software. For entries with a folder icon, select the entry to view variant methods.

Use the filter check boxes on the left side of the screen to display only certain types of methods.

You can filter by:

- Method Type: Preprocessing or post-processing methods.
- Sample Type: DNA, RNA or Universal (total nucleic acid) sample types.
- **Favorites:** Only methods where the Favorites star icon to the left of the method is highlighted.
- **Keyword:** Type in a word or word fragment to only show methods that contain that word in the Name, Description or CatalogID field.

*	Mark this method as a favorite for filtering purposes. Favorites are displayed at the top of the list of methods.
	When the folder icon appears in an entry, it indicates that variant methods have been created for this entry. Select the entry to view the existing variant methods.
Name	The name of the method.
Description	A description of the method.
Туре	Indicates whether this is a preprocessing or post-processing method.
Sample Type	Indicates the target nucleic acid to which this method applies: DNA, RNA or Universal (total nucleic acid) samples.
Catalog Number	The catalog number for the kit (if any) associated with the method.
Version Number	The version number of the method.
t]	Icon for creation of a new variant method based on the settings for an existing method.
Ē	Icon for editing an existing variant method.
×	Icon for deletion of a method or variant method.

For each method on the "Methods' screen (Figure 14), the following are displayed:

4.3.2 Importing Methods

Only Administrators can add new methods, update or delete existing methods. Administrators can download new or updated methods from the website at: www.promega.com/resources/software-firmware/maxwell-maxprep/maxprep-liquid-handler-methods/

Methods are provided as files with a .package extension. Follow the instructions below to import a method into the Maxprep[™] software.

- 1. Save the method (.package) file on the PC attached to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.
- 2. If not already running, start the Maxprep[™] software by double-clicking the software icon on the desktop.
- 3. Navigate to the 'Methods' screen (Home \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Administrator \rightarrow Methods)
- 4. Select the **Import...** button on the top left side of the screen to open the 'Methods' file browser screen (Figure 15).

			METHO	DDS	?
Drive\	C:\	Method Import\			
				AS1400_RSC Blood DNA.package	
				Normalization_Dilution_Transfer.package	
				ОК САМ	ICEL

Figure 15. Method import file selection. Use the 'Methods' file browser to navigate to the location of a method (.package) file. Valid import files are shown on the right side of the file browser as blue rectangles (yellow when selected).

- 5. Within the 'Methods' screen, navigate to the location at which you saved the method (.package) file. The current path will be shown in yellow boxes along the top of the window. Select any aspect of the path to navigate to the desired folder. Select the **Drive**\ button to select the drive in which to search. Folders within the current path are shown as red rectangles on the left side of the screen. Valid method (.package) files will be shown as blue rectangles (yellow when selected) on the right side of the screen.
- 6. Select the blue rectangle(s) corresponding to the desired (.package) file(s) to highlight, and then select the **OK** button to import the selected methods.



Note: When importing the same version of an existing method, the imported method will overwrite the existing method and all existing variants will be deleted. A warning is displayed, indicating that the existing method and variants will be deleted. The warning will ask whether you wish to proceed with import; select **Yes** to delete the existing method and variants or **No** to cancel the import. New versions of methods will not overwrite existing methods. To remove a previous version, delete the desired method by selecting the **X** on the right side of the method entry.

7. A screen will indicate successful import of the method(s) into the software. If import was successful, the new method file(s) will appear in the list of method files on the 'Methods' screen.

4.3.3 Variant Methods

Each of the methods on the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler can be customized by the administrator to meet the processing needs of the laboratory. The administrator can create variants of the default method that specify new default values, set minimum and maximum ranges and determine whether values can be changed by users at run time for a variety of processing options.

Creating a Variant Method

1. To create a new variant method, select the D icon on an existing method entry to open the 'Save-As Variant' screen (Figure 16, Panel A). The new variant method will initially be populated with the values from the original method or variant method. Changes made to the method will be saved as a new variant method.

To edit an existing variant method, select the 🗐 icon on an existing variant method entry to open the 'Edit Variant' screen (Figure 16, Panel B). Changes made to the variant method will modify the existing variant method.

A .					В.				
		SAVE-AS VARIANT		?			EDIT VARIANT		?
	Method variant based on 'Maxwell RSC Blood DNA Variant'					ť'			
Name:	Maxwell RSC Blood DNA \	/ariant			Name:	Maxwell RSC Blood DNA	/ariant		
Description:	RSC Blood DNA method w	vith narrowed sample range			Description:	RSC Blood DNA method v	vith narrowed sample range		
	Name	Value	Min / Max	User Modifiable		Name	Value	Min / Max	User Modifiable
Alternating Maxwell RS — Sample Elution Volt Sample Vol	; Sample/Empty Layout SC (16 Sample) Instrument ume (µl) mber lume (µl)	50 1 300	40 / 100 1 / 44 150 / 300		Alternatin Alternatin Maxwell R Sample Elution Vo Sample N Sample N	; Sample/Empty Layout SC (16 Sample) instrument ume (µl) mber lume (µl)	50 1 300	40 / 100 1 / 48 130 / 300	V - V V
			ОК	CANCEL				ОК	CANCEL

Figure 16. Creating a variant method. Panel A. The 'Save-As Variant' screen allows the administrator to create a new variant method based on the settings for an existing default or variant method loaded in the Maxprep[™] software. Panel B. The 'Edit Variant' screen allows the administrator to edit the settings of an existing variant method.

- 2. Enter a name and description to identify the variant method in the Name: and Description: fields.
- 3. Below the Description: field are groups of variables whose values can be modified by the administrator. Select the +/- icon to the left of the group to expand/hide any individual group of accessible variables.

- 4. For each variable type, the following are listed:
 - a. Name: A description of the variable that is being set.
 - b. **Value:** The default value for this variable. If the default value falls outside of the allowable range for the variable, the value will default to the nearest allowable value within the range.
 - c. **Min/Max:** The range of values that are acceptable for this variable. Variables may have an absolute Min/Max range that is set by Promega. The administrator can narrow this range if desired to meet laboratory needs. The software will check that the entries conform to the following conditions:
 - i. The minimum value is less than or equal to the maximum value.
 - ii. The minimum and maximum values are within the absolute range set by Promega.
 - iii. The default value is within the specified range.

If there is an issue with any of these conditions, the software will automatically reset the offending value to the nearest allowable value within the range.

d. **User Modifiable:** A check box to indicate whether users can change the default value during a run.

Note: Not all variables that can be specified in a variant method are available for users to modify during a method run.

Information regarding the variables that can be set for method types or specific methods, and the impact of these settings, can be found in the Technical Manuals specific to your preprocessing or post-processing methods.

5. The administrator can modify any of the accessible variables to meet the needs of the laboratory workflow.
6. Once all changes have been applied, select the **OK** button to save the variant method. New variant methods will be added to the list of variant methods in the folder (Figure 17).

€			METHODS			*-	- 🗖 (?
METHOD	NAME 🛦	DESCRIPTION	ТУРЕ	SAMPLE TYPE	CATALOG ID	VERSION		
IMPORT	STPE Lysis Reaction	Preparation This method will perform the lysis reac	tion setup for both AS1440 Pre-Processing	Universal	None	1.1.0	10	×
	🖄 🛋 Maxwell® R	ISC Blood DNA The Maxwell® RSC Blood DNA Kit is de	esigned for optimal automa Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1400	1.1.0	*D	×
Method Type	S Maxon	vell® RSC Blood DNA Lab Variant Variant. Blood DNA with narrow	ed sample range.				t E	×
Pre-processing Post-processing	A Maxwell® RSC ccfD	NA Plasma The Maxwell® RSC ccfDNA Plasma Kit	is used with the Maxwell® Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1460	1.1.0	t	×
Sample Type	Maxwell® RSC DNA	A FFPE The Maxwell® RSC DNA FFPE Kit is use	ad with the Maxwell® RSC I Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1450	1.1.0	1	×
DNA	Maxwell® RSC miRt	NA Tissue The Maxwell® RSC miRNA Tissue Kit is	used with the Maxwell® R Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1460	1.1.0	10	×
RNA	Maxwell® RSC RNA	A FFPE The Maxwell® RSC RNA FFPE Kit is use	ed with the Maxwell® RSC I Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1440	1.1.0	* D	×
Universal	Maxwell® RSC simp	olyRNA Blood The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood #	(it, used with the Maxwell® Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1380	1.1.0	1	×
Favorites	Maxwell® RSC simp	olyRNA Blood The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood #	(it, used with the Maxwell® Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1380	1.0.1	* D	×
Keyword	Maxwell® RSC simp	olyRNA Cells The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Cells Ki	t, used with the Maxwell® Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1390	1.1.0	10	×
	Maxwell® RSC simp	olyRNA Tissue The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Tissue H	Kit, used with the Maxwell® Pre-Processing	RNA	A51340	1.1.0	°	×
	Maxwell® RSC Who	the Blood DNA The Maxwell® RSC Whole Blood DNA	Kit is a simple, automated Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1520	1.1.0	10	×
	Maxwell@RSC Viral	Total Nucleic Acid The Maxwell® RSC Viral Total Nucleic	Acid Purification Kit is desig Pre-Processing	Universal	AS1330	1.1.0	*D	×
	Normalization	This method will normalize samples to	a target concentration and Post-processing	Universal	None	1.1.0	10	×
	CR Setup	This method will setup endpoint PCR r	eactions. Post-processing	DNA	None	1.1.0	10	×

Figure 17. Appearance of variant methods. Administrator 'Methods' screen showing an expanded method folder with a variant method.

In the list of methods,	variant methods	have the following	information present:
-------------------------	-----------------	--------------------	----------------------

5	Mark this method as a favorite so it is always sorted to the top of the variant methods list.
Name	The name of the method.
Description	A description of the method.
*1	Icon for creation of a new variant method based on the values set for the specified variant method. Saves the resulting variant method as a new entry.
liı	Icon that allows editing of the values in an existing variant method. Replaces the existing variant method with the newly entered values.
×	Icon for deletion of a variant method.

Once variant methods have been created by the administrator, they will be available for users to run on the system (see Section 5.3, Starting a Method).

4.3.4 Deleting Methods

Note: When deleting a default method from the Maxprep[™] software, a warning will be displayed to confirm that you wish to delete the default method and all variants of that method. To delete a method or variant method from the Maxprep[™] software, select the **X** on the right side of the method list entry to delete it. A 'Warning' screen will be shown asking whether the file should be permanently deleted. Select **Delete** to permanently remove the file from the Maxprep[™] software or **Cancel** to return to the 'Methods' screen without deleting the method.

4.3.5 Labware

View the labware currently installed in the Maxprep[™] software on the 'Labware' screen (Figure 18) by selecting the **Labware** button from the 'Administrator' screen (Figure 13).

٠.		LABWARE	*-0?*
METHOD	500 A	DESCRIPTION	them DELTE
MPORT_	1.5 millip Gap Notes		Tuta X
	11 mi Rood Tubes	Vaculation (26 mm	Salar X
	(vi mi Round-Bottom Tubes		Tata X
	2.0 mi Scow Cap Tuber	Santout Tuton	tata X
	2.8 millioner Cap. Tubes	Served Tutes	Tota X
	6 or Band Tabes	Vacutarian (d) rum	Tuta X
	9 mi Sympe Bood Tubes	1-Montoatte	tan X ,
	Contac Plat Back Plane	Part number (91)	rus X
	Puidt Para	del mi Storage Sute Reck	res X
	Rudi Res	(c) on Storage Tube Reck	rus X
	Maquep* (say that Processing Parts)	Furt sumber A00007	7455 X
	Marphy ¹⁴ (any West Processing Patter	Fact number ACOUP	rus X
	Manual RC 48 Track	Samples are in elution takes	1000 X
	Manual Hic Tops	Samples are in alufton takes	~ X
	Optical POIL Plane	All Part Number Nation168	rus X
	Promage 1.1 no Square well plate	Part number VBI(1	7445 X
	Promega (ollection: Para	Part number A0532	rum X

Figure 18. 'Labware' screen. This screen displays a list of the labware installed in the Maxprep™ software.

For each labware listed on the 'Labware' so	creen (Figure 18), the	following are displayed:
---	------------------------	--------------------------

Name	The name of the labware.
Description	Description of the labware.
Туре	The type of labware (Plate, Tube, 16-position Maxwell® deck tray [identified as RSC], 24-position Maxwell® deck tray [identified as RSC 48]).
×	Icon for deletion of a labware.

4.3.6 Importing Labware

Only Administrators can import new labware into the Maxprep[™] software. Administrators can request new labware from Promega Technical Services **(techserv@promega.com)**. Labware definitions are provided in files with a .labware extension. Follow the instructions below to import a labware import file into the Maxprep[™] software.

- 1. Save the labware (.labware) file on the PC attached to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.
- 2. If not already running, start the Maxprep[™] software by double-clicking the software icon on the desktop.
- 3. Navigate to the 'Labware' screen (Home \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Administrator \rightarrow Labware)
- 4. Select the **Import...** button on the top left side of the screen to open the 'Labware Import' file browser screen (Figure 19).

LABWARE IMPORT				?	
Drive\	C:\	Imports\			
			New_Labware_File.labware	2	
				ОК	CANCEL

Figure 19. Labware import file selection. Use the 'Labware Import' file browser to navigate to the location of a labware (.labware) file. Valid import files are shown on the right side of the file browser as blue rectangles (yellow when selected).

5. Within the 'Labware Import' file selection screen, navigate to the location at which you saved the labware (.labware) file. The current path will be shown in yellow boxes along the top of the window. Select any aspect of the path to navigate to the desired folder. Select the **Drive** button to select the drive in which to search. Folders within the current path are shown as red rectangles on the left side of the screen. Valid labware (.labware) files will be shown as blue rectangles (yellow when selected) on the right side of the screen.

6. Select the blue rectangle(s) corresponding to the desired (.labware) file(s) to highlight, and then select the **OK** button to import the selected labware.

Note: When importing the same or a new version of an existing labware, the imported labware will overwrite the existing labware. During import a warning is displayed, indicating that the existing labware will be deleted. The warning will ask whether you wish to proceed with import; select **Yes** to delete the existing labware or **No** to cancel the import.

7. A 'Labware Import' selection screen is displayed (Figure 20) that enables the administrator to determine which labware will be imported from the selected (.labware) file. This screen displays the name of each labware type present in the (.labware) import file and check boxes for whether the labware will be imported, the RCK file will be overwritten, and the CTR file will be overwritten. If any labware within the file already exists in the Maxprep[™] software, a red triangle with a white exclamation point is displayed to the left of the labware type. When importing labware, unless instructed otherwise, it is recommended to leave the check boxes for Import, RCK file and CTR file checked. To complete labware import select the **OK** button, or to cancel import select the **Cancel** button.

Note: Separate instructions will be sent with the labware import file that describe how to use the Maxprep[™] Labware Management utility to determine the methods for which the new labware will be available.

LABWARE IMPORT					?
		IMPORT	RCK FILE	CNT FILE	
A	1.5 ml Flip Cap Tubes	V	V	V	ń
A	10 ml Blood Tubes	V	V	V	
A	14 ml Round-Bottom Tubes	V	V	V	E
A	2.0 ml Screw Cap Tubes	V	V	V	
	6 ml Blood Tubes	V	V	V	
	9 ml Syringe Blood Tubes	V	V	V	
	Costar Flat Black Plate	V	V	V	
	FluidX Plate	V		7	
	Maxprep Deep Well Processing Plates	V	V	V	
		1	••	F7	*
			CANCEL	ОК	

Figure 20. 'Labware Import' Selection Screen. Use the check boxes on this screen to determine which items will be imported and which labware files will be overwritten on import. A red triangle with white exclamation point indicates that the specified labware already exists in the Maxprep[™] software.

4.3.7 Deleting Labware

To delete labware from the Maxprep[™] software, select the **X** on the right side of the labware list entry. A 'Warning' screen will be shown asking whether the labware should be permanently deleted. Select **Delete** to permanently remove the labware from the Maxprep[™] software or **Cancel** to return to the 'Labware' screen without deleting the labware.

4.3.8 Manage Kits

Certain Maxprep[™] methods are capable of supporting the use of multiple Promega kits (e.g., Promega STR kits). These methods reference and allow the selection of kit settings files that are stored in the Maxprep[™] software. View the kits currently installed in the Maxprep[™] software on the 'Manage Kits' screen (Figure 21) by selecting the **Manage Kits** button from the 'Administrator' screen (Figure 13).

۲		MANAGE KITS		*- 🗆 ? 🕷
METHOD		DESCRIPTION	CATALOG ID	DELETE
IMPORT	PowerPlex®ESX 17/ ESI 17 Fast	Co-Amplification and S-Color Detection of ENFSI-Recommended STR Loci	DC17	×
	PowerPlex®ESX 17/ ESI 17 Fast Casework Direct	Co-Amplification and 5-Color Detection of ENFSI-Recommended STR Loci	DC17	×
	PowerPlex®ESX 17/ ESI 17 Fast Half Volume	Co-Amplification and S-Color Detection of ENFSI-Recommended STR Loci	DC17	×
	PowerPlex®ESX 17/ ESI 17 Fast Half Volume Punci	h Co-Amplification and S-Color Detection of ENFSI-Recommended STR Loci, FTA and non-FTA Punche	s DC17	×
	PowerPlex®ESX 17/ ESI 17 Fast Half Volume Swab	s Co-Amplification and S-Color Detection of ENFSI-Recommended STR Loci, Swab Solution Lysates	DC17	×
	PowerPlex®ESX 17/ ESI 17 Fast Punches	Co-Amplification and S-Color Detection of ENFSI-Recommended STR Loci, FTA and non-FTA Punche	s DC17	×
	PowerPlex®ESX 17/ ESI 17 Fast Swabs	Co-Amplification and 5-Color Detection of ENFSI-Recommended STR Loci. Swab Solution Lysates	DC17	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion	Co-Amplification and 5-Color Detection of 24 Loci	DC24	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion 6C	Co-Amplification and 6-Color Detection of 27 Loci	DC27	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion 6C Half Volume	Co-Amplification and 6-Color Detection of 27 Loci	DC27	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion 6C Half Volume Punch	Co-Amplification and 6-Color Detection of 27 Loci, FTA and non-FTA Punches	DC27	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion 6C Half Volume Swabs	Co-Amplification and 6-Color Detection of 27 Loci, Swab Solution Lysates	DC27	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion Half Volume	Co-Amplification and 5-Color Detection of 24 Loci	DC24	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion Half Volume Punch	Co-Amplification and 6-Color Detection of 24 Loci, FTA and non-FTA Punches	DC24	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion Half Volume Swabs	Co-Amplification and 5-Color Detection of 24 Loci, Swab Solution Lysates	DC24	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion Punches	Co-Amplification and 5-Color Detection of 24 Loci, FTA and non-FTA Punches	DC24	×
	PowerPlex®Fusion Swabs	Co-Amplification and 5-Color Detection of 24 Loci. Swab Solution Lysates	DC24	×

Figure 21. 'Manage Kits' Screen. This screen displays a list of the Promega kit settings installed in the Maxprep™ software.

6397TA

For each kit listed on the "Manage Kits' screen (Figure 21), the following are displayed:

Name	The name of the kit.
Description	Description of the kit.
CatalogID	The catalog number or catalog number fragment that corresponds to the kit.
×	Icon for deletion of a kit.

4.3.9 Importing Kits

Only administrators can import new kits into the Maxprep[™] software. Administrators can request new kits from Promega Technical Services (**techserv@promega.com**). Kits are provided in files with a .strkit extension. Kit files may contain one or more kits. Follow the instructions below to import a kit file into the Maxprep[™] software.

- 1. Save the kit (.strkit) file on the PC attached to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.
- 2. If not already running, start the Maxprep[™] software by double-clicking the software icon on the desktop.
- 3. Navigate to the 'Manage Kits' screen (Home \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Administrator \rightarrow Manage Kits)
- 4. Select the **Import...** button on the top left side of the screen to open the 'Import Kit' file browser screen (Figure 22).

IMPORT KIT		
Drive\ C:\ Temp\		
Maxprep Methods\	Powerplex_ESI-ESX_17_20191002.strkit	
	PowerPlex_Fusion6C_20191001.strkit	
	PowerPlex_Fusion_20190925.strkit	
	OK CANCEL	

Figure 22. Kit import file selection. Use the 'Import Kit' file browser to navigate to the location of a kit (.strkit) file. Valid import files are shown on the right side of the file browser as blue rectangles (yellow when selected).

5. Within the 'Import Kit' file selection screen, navigate to the location at which you saved the kit (.strkit) file. The current path will be shown in yellow boxes along the top of the window. Select any aspect of the path to navigate to the desired folder. Select the Drive\ button to select the drive in which to search. Folders within the current path are shown as red rectangles on the left side of the screen. Valid kit (.strkit) files will be shown as blue rectangles (yellow when selected) on the right side of the screen.

6. Select the blue rectangle(s) corresponding to the desired (.strkit) file(s) to highlight, and then select the **OK** button to import the selected kit(s).

Note: When importing the same or a new version of an existing kit, the imported kit will overwrite the existing kit. During import a warning is displayed, indicating that the existing kit will be deleted. The warning will ask whether you wish to proceed with import; select **Yes** to delete the existing labware or **No** to cancel the import.

4.3.10 Deleting Kits

To delete a kit from the Maxprep[™] software, select the **X** on the right side of the kit list entry. A 'Warning' screen will be shown asking whether the kit should be permanently deleted. Select **Delete** to permanently remove the kit from the Maxprep[™] software or **Cancel** to return to the 'Manage Kits' screen without deleting the kit.

4.3.11 Preferences

Administrators can view additional preferences available in the Maxprep[™] software by selecting the **Preferences** button on the 'Administrator' screen. The 'Preferences' screen displays a set of four tabs that can be used by the administrator to adapt the functionality of the software to the needs of the laboratory. Below are descriptions of the options that can be set on each of these tabs.

'Common Settings' Tab

The 'Common Settings' tab on the 'Preferences' screen (Figure 23) provides administrators the ability to specify the following options:

- Allow expired Maxwell kits: Checking this box allows users to run methods with kits that have passed their expiration date. When this box is unchecked the software will not allow expired kits to be used for any preprocessing runs.
- **Require Maxwell Kit Lot Number:** Checking this box will require users to enter a valid Maxwell kit lot number for each preprocessing method.
- Allow deletion of results: When checked, this box will allow administrators to delete extraction report files from the local database of run reports.
- Save aborted runs: When this box is checked, the software will save local run reports for aborted runs of all instrument functions regardless of why they were aborted. If left unchecked, any instrument functions that have been aborted will not generate a local run report.
- **Export to PDF:** Checking this box will create a PDF version of exported results in addition to the tab-delimited text file version of the results.
- **Export to Excel®:** Checking this box will create an Excel® version of exported results in addition to the tab-delimited text file version of the results.

- Auto Export: Report files can be automatically exported to an administrator-defined location at the end of each method. Check the "Auto Export" box to enable this function, and then select the text box below this option to specify the path to which exported results files should be saved. An 'Export Folder' screen will open with the current path specified in yellow rectangles. Select any aspect of the path to navigate to the desired folder. Select the **Drive** button to select the drive in which to search. Folders within the current path will be shown as red rectangles in the main area of the screen. Results will be exported as tab-delimited text files. If the options for Export to PDF or Export to Excel® have been enabled, reports will also be exported in the selected format(s) to the specified drive location.
- Sanitize: Checking this box will display the UV Sanitization method in the list of maintenance methods and allow the administrator to specify the time period for UV sanitization when running the Sanitization maintenance method. After checking the box, select the text box to specify the sanitization time (in minutes).
- Enforce Maintenance: Checking this box will require that users perform Daily or Weekly maintenance before being able to run any methods on the Maxprep[™] Instrument. Daily or Weekly maintenance runs must be completed successfully before any methods can be run.

A prompt to save or discard changes made to the preferences is displayed when you navigate away from the 'Preferences' screen.

€		PREFERENCES	* - 🗆 ? 🖲
COMMON SETTINGS ALARM SETTINGS E-MAIL SETTINGS PORTAL	Allow Expired Maswell Kits Require Maswell Kit Lot Number Allow Deletion Of Results Swe Aborted Runs		
	Loport io 704 Export io Export Auto Export Sanitire [1	

Figure 23. 'Common Settings' tab on the 'Preferences' screen. From this tab the administrator can allow use of expired kits, require entry of Maxwell[®] kit lot information, allow deletion of results, specify whether reports from aborted runs should be saved, specify the file format(s) for exported reports, specify whether and to where reports will be automatically exported after a run, and set the visibility and sanitization duration for the Sanitize maintenance method.

'Alarm Settings' Tab

The 'Alarm Settings' tab on the 'Preferences' screen (Figure 24) provides administrators the ability to specify whether the software will provide audible alarms for completed method runs and error states. Available options are:

- **Play sound when method is completed:** Check this box to have the PC generate a sound when a method run is completed.
- **Play sound on error:** Check this box to have the PC generate a sound if an error occurs during a method run on the instrument.

A prompt to save or discard changes made to preferences is displayed when you navigate away from the 'Preferences' screen.



Figure 24. 'Alarm Settings' tab on the 'Preferences' screen. From this tab the administrator can specify whether audible alarms should be played on completion of a method run or on error during a method run.

'E-mail Settings' Tab

The 'E-mail Settings' tab on the 'Preferences' screen (Figure 25) is where e-mail server details are specified and administrators can determine when and to whom e-mail notifications will be sent. It is necessary to fill out the user and server information on the 'E-mail Settings' tab in order to use e-mail notifications. Required e-mail server information on the left side of the screen includes:

- **Username:** The name of the user for the e-mail account that will send e-mail notifications.
- **E-mail:** The e-mail account that will send e-mail notifications.
- **Password:** The password for the e-mail account that will send e-mail notifications.
- SMTP Server: The SMTP server address for the e-mail account.
- **Port:** The port that should be used for the SMTP server.
- **SSL Encrypted Connection:** Check this box to indicate whether the e-mail account uses an SSL encrypted connection.

On the right side of the screen, the administrator can specify under what conditions and to whom e-mail notifications will be sent. Options include:

- Send mail when method is completed: Check this box to have e-mails automatically sent to the specified e-mail addresses when a method run has been completed.
- Send mail on error: Check this box to have e-mails automatically sent to the specified e-mail addresses if an error state occurs during a method run.
- **E-mail Recipients:** Enter the e-mail address(es) separated by a space that will act as the distribution list for e-mail notifications under the conditions that have been selected.

Upon completing the entries for e-mail settings you can test the validity of the settings by selecting the **Test Connection** button. Selecting this button will attempt to send a test e-mail to the e-mail account and e-mail recipients designated by the settings on this tab.

A prompt to save or discard changes made to preferences is displayed when you navigate away from the 'Preferences' screen.

Note: Contact your IT department to provide the information required to complete e-mail settings.

۲	PREFERENCES	¥ – □ ? ¥
COUMON SETTINGS Land ALAMA SETTINGS LAND E-MAUL SETTINGS LAND PORTAL EF Base Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Se	mail Settings Configuration set Information set Name set Redomain.com set	166174

Figure 25. 'E-mail Settings' tab on the 'Preferences' screen. From this tab the administrator can specify e-mail server settings, under what conditions e-mail notifications should be sent and the distribution list to which e-mails should be sent. Use the **Test Connection** button to check the settings entered on this screen.

'Portal' Tab

The 'Portal' tab (Figure 26) presents settings for use of the Portal software to connect multiple instrument modules for the purposes of sample tracking and data sharing. Information on this tab will determine whether your system communicates with the Portal software and define the server information necessary to connect to the Portal software.

۲		PREFERENCES	*- 🗖 ? 🕱
COMMON SETTINGS ALARM SETTINGS E-MAIL SETTINGS PORTAL			
	TEST CONNECTION		

Figure 26. 'Portal' tab on the 'Preferences' screen. The information entered on this tab determines whether Portal Sample Tracking is enabled on your system and allows entry of the communications settings necessary to connect to the Portal software.

If you wish to share sample tracking and other method-specific data between multiple modules, check the "Enable Portal Sample Tracking" check box on this tab. By default the Portal software is installed on the PC connected to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. During installation of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Hander the connection information for the Portal software will be configured. In order for your system to communicate with the Portal software, the following information is required:

- Server Name: Name of the server hosting the Portal software [Default = Maxprep-HP\ PromegaPortal]
- **Database:** Name of the SQL database containing Portal information [Default = Portal]
- Username: User name necessary to access the Portal software [Default = PortalLogin]
- **Password:** Password necessary to access the Portal software [Default = PortalLogin]
- **Use Windows Authentication:** Check box to indicate whether Windows authentication should be used when accessing the Portal Software [Default = Unchecked]

Once the Portal software information has been entered, select the **Test Connection** button to determine whether the Maxprep[™] software can successfully connect to Portal using the information supplied. A message is displayed, indicating whether the connection was successful. If unsuccessful, confirm that the connection information was correctly entered and try again.

If communication to Portal is lost at any time during a method run, the resulting data will be queued up for export to Portal when communication is re-established. If there are continuing problems with export of a data set to Portal, select the **Clear Pending Export** button to clear the data from the export process. This may help resolve persistent communication problems with Portal that are caused by issues with the data. Data that has been cleared from export will not be sent to the Portal software and will only exist in local reports.

A prompt to save or discard changes made to preferences is displayed when you navigate away from the 'Preferences' screen.

4.3.12 Instrument Name

It is possible to define a unique identifying name for the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. This name is shown on the title bar of the Maxprep[™] software 'Home' screen and is recorded in method run reports.

- 1. From the 'Administrator' screen, select the **Instrument Name** button to open the 'Instrument Name' screen.
- 2. On the 'Instrument Name' screen, select the text box and enter the desired name for this instrument (Figure 27). The instrument name should be entered following the procedures and rules at your site.
- 3. Select the **OK** button to save the instrument name you have entered. An informational message is displayed, indicating that the name of the instrument has been successfully changed.
- 4. If you do not wish to save any changes to the instrument name, select the **Cancel** button to return to the 'Administrator' screen.

INS	TRUMENT	NAME	?
Maxprep Instr	ument		
	ОК	CAI	NCEL

Figure 27. 'Instrument Name' screen. Use this screen to enter a name for this Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.

4.3.13 Audit Records

The Maxprep[™] software contains a user-readable audit trail of all functions that have been performed in the Maxprep[™] software. Administrators have access to view and export the audit records from the instrument through the **Audit Records** button on the 'Administrator' screen. The 'Audit Records' screen displays a listing of all of the functions that have been performed on the instrument (Figure 28). You can filter the audit records by selecting the buttons on the left side to view records for functions performed **Today**, **This Week**, **This Month**, the past **Six Months**, **This Year** or **All** functions performed over the life of the instrument. Select the column headers to sort the records based on column contents. Select the desired row to see the audit message from that particular record. Administrators can export all audit records for the selected date range by selecting the **Export** button at the bottom left corner of the screen. The administrator is required to specify a location to which the exported information should be saved.

- 1. Select the **Export** button on the 'Audit Records' screen.
- 2. Using the Yellow and Red rectangle buttons you can select the folder location (Figure 29) where the method run reports will be saved.

The current path is indicated by the yellow rectangles at the top of the 'Export Folder' screen. Any folders present within the selected directory are displayed as red rectangles in the white portion of the screen. Select the **Drive**\ button to navigate to the drive location of the desired folder. Select red folder buttons to navigate to the specified folder location.

 Once the desired file path has been specified, select the OK button to export audit records or select the Cancel button to cancel any changes. After selecting either OK or Cancel you will be returned to the 'Administrator' screen.

۲			245	5 AUDIT RECORDS	_ 🗖 ? 🙁
TODAY	DATE/TIME 🔻	STATUS	OPERATOR	OPERATION	CONTEXT/MESSAGE
THIS MONTH	6/7/2018 7:47:43 AM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	Application software has been opened.	^
SIX MONTHS	6/7/2018 7:36:20 AM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Sample Transfer v1.1.0
THIS YEAR	6/7/2018 7:36:16 AM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Reverse Transcription Quantitative PCR v1.1.0
THIS TOAK	6/7/2018 7:36:13 AM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Sample Dilution v1.1.0
ALL	6/5/2018 2:37:34 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Normalization v1.1.0
	6/5/2018 1:57:05 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell®RSC Viral Total Nucleic Acid v1.1.0
	6/5/2018 1:57:01 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood v1.1.0
	6/5/2018 1:56:54 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell® RSC miRNA Tissue v1.1.0
	6/5/2018 1:56:28 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been deleted.	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood v1.0.1
	6/5/2018 1:56:23 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been deleted.	Quantitative PCR Setup v1.0.1
	6/1/2018 1:33:47 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell® RSC ccfDNA Plasma v1.1.0
	6/1/2018 1:33:41 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell® RSC miRNA Tissue v1.1.0
	6/1/2018 1:33:36 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Cells v1.1.0
	6/1/2018 1:25:32 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	Application software has been opened.	
	6/1/2018 1:22:48 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	Application software has been closed.	
	6/1/2018 1:22:43 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell®RSC Viral Total Nucleic Acid v1.1.0
	6/1/2018 1:22:28 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood v1.1.0
	6/1/2018 1:21:37 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell®RSC Viral Total Nucleic Acid v1.1.0
	6/1/2018 1:21:17 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method has been imported.	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood v1.0.1
	6/1/2018 9:24:30 AM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	Application software has been opened.	
	6/1/2018 8:42:30 AM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	Application software has been closed.	
	5/31/2018 2:40:28 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method variant has been created.	Quantitative PCR Setup v1.1.0 (of Quantitative PCR Setup v1.1.0)
	5/31/2018 2:30:46 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method variant has been created.	Quantitative PCR Setup v1.1.0
EXPORT	5/31/2018 2:30:13 PM	Success	PROMEGA\integrated	A method variant has been created.	Quantitative PCR Setup v1.1.0 v

Figure 28. 'Audit Records' screen. A user-readable record of events that have occurred in the Maxprep[™] software can be viewed by the administrator and exported to a specified drive location from this screen.



Figure 29. Export Folder' screen. From this screen you can set the folder location to which all displayed audit records will be exported.

5.1 Maintenance

Maintenance is critical to ensuring performance of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler over the life of the instrument. Select the **Maintenance** button on the 'Home' screen (Figure 30) of the Maxprep[™] software to access the 'Maintenance' screen (Figure 31). Listed on the 'Maintenance' screen are methods designed to ensure your instrument is in working order. The UV Sanitization method is also included depending on Administrator settings (see Section 4.3). For each maintenance method, the date at which the method was last performed is listed.



Figure 30. Maxprep[™] software 'Home' screen. Selecting the Maintenance button opens the 'Maintenance' screen from which maintenance methods for the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler can be run.

€	MAINTENANCE	☆ – □ ? 🕱
NAME	DESCRIPTION	LAST PERFORMED
Daily Maintenance	cLLD and pipette maintenance	9/12/2017 5:53:47 PM
Weekly Maintenance	cLLD / pipette maintenance and XYZ calibration	9/26/2017 5:53:56 PM
Santization	UV antitation	KU1/2017 2.34:59 PM

Figure 31. 'Maintenance' screen. This screen lists the available maintenance methods that can be run for the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.

5.1.1 Daily and Weekly Maintenance

Daily Maintenance and Weekly Maintenance should be performed at their specified frequency, and if the Administrator has chosen to enforce maintenance, the Daily and Weekly Maintenance must successfully pass maintenance tests at their specified frequency before any other methods can be run. The Daily Maintenance method will test the pipette tip seal and conductive liquid level sensing performance of the system. The Weekly Maintenance method will prompt the user to clean the instrument (see Section 6.1, Weekly Cleaning) and then will test instrument calibration, pipette tip seal and conductive liquid level sensing. Because the Weekly Maintenance method includes the functions tested in the Daily Maintenance method, it is not necessary to run both Daily Maintenance and Weekly Maintenance on the same day. When starting a Maintenance method, make sure to close the door of the instrument before selecting the **Proceed** button. Perform the on-screen instructions that are provided for each method. The gantry of the instrument can be freely moved from side to side in order to facilitate performing the on-screen instructions. Make sure that the tip eject bar has been removed from the Waste Position and that the door of the instrument is closed. After the maintenance method is complete, replace the tip eject bar on the Waste Position. The pin on the waste position should fit in the small hole at the front of the tip eject bar, the large cut out should be at the back of the instrument and the angled side of the tip eject bar should be on the right side and facing downward toward the waste bin.

5.1.2 Sanitization

Run the **Sanitization** method to perform a UV treatment for an amount of time designated in the administrator preferences (see Section 4.3, Administrator Settings). The visibility of the Sanitization Maintenance method is specified on the 'Common Settings' tab of the 'Preferences' screen (see Section 4.3, Administrator Settings).

5.2 Methods

The methods supplied with the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler can be used to perform preprocessing of samples for a variety of Maxwell[®] RSC and Maxwell[®] FSC purification kits and to perform a variety of post-processing processes (e.g., quantitation, PCR setup, qPCR setup, normalization, etc.). Please refer to your specific Maxwell[®] reagent kit and method type Technical Manuals for information on method setup and variant method options. Two mechanisms for selecting a method to run are enabled in the Maxprep[™] software. Selection of a method from the list of installed methods and administrator-defined variant methods can be used for method selection as well as confirmation. Alternatively, for preprocessing methods, enter or scan the bar code information on a Maxwell[®] purification kit box. This will filter the list of methods to display the appropriate installed preprocessing method(s) for that kit with subsequent selection and confirmation being performed by the user.

5.3 Starting a Method

From the 'Home' screen (Figure 32) select the **Start** button to begin the process of running a method.



Figure 32. Maxprep[™] software 'Home' screen. Selecting the Start button begins the process of running a method on the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.

The 'Methods' screen displays the list of methods installed in the Maxprep[™] Software (Figure 33). The following information is displayed for each method:

$\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$	Mark this method or variant method as a favorite for filtering purposes.
	When the folder icon appears in an entry, it indicates that variant meth- ods have been created for this entry. Select the method entry to expand the folder and view the available administrator-defined variant methods.
Name	The name of the method.
Description	A description of the method.
Туре	Indicates whether this is a preprocessing or post-processing method.
Sample Type	Indicates whether this method applies to DNA samples, RNA samples, or Universal (total nucleic acid) samples.
Catalog ID	The catalog number for the kit (if any) associated with this method.
Version	The version number of this method.

Use the filter check boxes on the left side of the screen to display only certain types of methods. You can filter by:

- **Method Type:** Preprocessing or post-processing methods.
- Sample Type: DNA, RNA or Universal (total nucleic acid) sample types.
- **Favorites:** Only methods where the Favorites star icon to the left of the method is highlighted.
- **Keyword:** Type in a word or word fragment to only show methods that contain that word in the Name, Description or CatalogID field.

Once you have chosen a method to run, either select the method or variant to highlight or use the alternative instructions below to select preprocessing methods based on preprocessing kit bar code. A **Proceed** button will appear on the right side of the highlighted method entry. Select the **Proceed** button to start the selected method.

۲				MET	HODS				_ 🗖 ? 🕱
				Scan the reagent kit barcode or enter it m	anually				
		NAME 📥		DESCRIPTION		түре	SAMPLE TYPE	CATALOG ID	VERSION
Method Type	☆	FFPE Lysis R	leaction Preparation	This method will perform the lysis reaction setu	up for both AS1440	Pre-Processing	Universal	None	1.1.0
Pre-processing	${\propto}$	Max	rwell # RSC Blood DNA	The Maxwell® RSC Blood DNA Kit is designed	for optimal automat	Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1400	1.1.0
Post-processing			Maxwell® RSC Blood DNA	Default. The Maxwell® RSC Blood DNA Kit is d	esigned for optimal au	utomated extraction of DNA	from up to 300µl of whole blo	ood samples u	
Sample Type			Maxwell® RSC Blood DNA	Variant, Blood DNA method with narrowed sam	nple range				
DNA	☆	Maxwell® P	RSC ccfDNA Plasma	The Maxwell® RSC ccfDNA Plasma Kit is used v	with the Maxwell® R	Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1460	1.1.0
RNA	${\propto}$	Maxwell® p	RSC DNA FFPE	The Maxwell® RSC DNA FFPE Kit is used with t	he Maxwell® RSC In	Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1450	1.1.0
Universal	☆	Maxwell® P	RSC miRNA Tissue	The Maxwell® RSC miRNA Tissue Kit is used w	ith the Maxwell® RS	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1460	1.1.0
Favorites	${\propto}$	Maxwell® F	ISC RNA FFPE	The Maxwell® RSC RNA FFPE Kit is used with th	he Maxwell® RSC Ins.	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1440	1.1.0
	☆	Maxwell® P	RSC simplyRNA Blood	The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood Kit. used	with the Maxwell® R.	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1380	1.1.0
Keyword	${\propto}$	Maxwell® p	RSC simplyRNA Cells	The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Cells Kit, used w	with the Maxwell® RS.	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1390	1.1.0
	☆	Maxwell® P	RSC simplyRNA Tissue	The Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Tissue Kit, used	with the Maxwell®	Pre-Processing	RNA	AS1340	1.1.0
	\approx	Maxwell® P	RSC Whole Blood DNA	The Maxwell® RSC Whole Blood DNA Kit is a s	imple, automated m	Pre-Processing	DNA	AS1520	1.1.0
	☆	Maxwell ® R	SC Viral Total Nucleic Acid	The Maxwell® RSC Viral Total Nucleic Acid Puri	ification Kit is design	Pre-Processing	Universal	AS1330	1.1.0
	☆	Normalizati	ion	This method will normalize samples to a target	concentration and v	Post-processing	Universal	None	1.1.0
	☆	Qua	antitative PCR Setup	This method will setup quantitative PCR reaction	ons.	Post-processing	DNA	None	1.1.0
	Å	Reverse Tra	nscription PCR	This method will setup endpoint reverse transc	ription PCR reactions.	Post-processing	RNA	None	1.1.0 🗸

Figure 33. Selecting a method to run from the 'Methods' screen. Select a method or administrator-defined variant method from the 'Methods' screen. Once a method is selected, it will be highlighted in yellow. Select the **Proceed** button to start the method.

5.3.1 Alternative Method Selection for Preprocessing Methods

To select an appropriate preprocessing method for a Maxwell[®] purification kit, select the text box at the top of the 'Methods' screen (Figure 33) and either scan or type the bar code on the Maxwell[®] reagent kit box indicated by the Scan Here label (Figure 34). The Maxprep[™] software requires manual entry of bar codes in the following format: Product Catalog Number, Kit Lot Number, Expiration Date in year-month format (example: AS13303221872020-05, where the product catalog number is AS1330, the kit lot number is 322187 and the expiration date is 2020-05). Only if the bar code entered has this format will a method be selected. If applicable, select any of the other variants that you wish to run to change the selection.

There are two possible warnings that can be displayed based on entry of kit bar code information. For kits that have passed the expiration date, the Maxprep[™] software will display a warning that the kit is past expiration. If the administrator has allowed the use of expired kits, the user can make the choice of whether to proceed with this method or not; otherwise, the software will not allow the selection of a method based on a bar code that indicates the kit has expired. When there is no corresponding method for a kit based on the bar code entry, the software will display a warning of the issue. To see if a method has been released for the kit, visit: www.promega.com/resources/software-firmware/maxwell-maxprep/maxprep-liquid-handler-methods/





Note: The method run will not execute if the door of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is open when the **Run** button is selected. Make sure to close the door of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler when starting a method run.

Figure 34. Kit label indicating bar code to scan. Shown in the blue box is the bar code to scan on the kit label for starting a purification run.

Once the bar code is correctly entered and the desired method or variant has been selected, select the **Proceed** button to display the 'Method Run' screen (Figure 35). The name of the selected method is shown in the title bar of the 'Method Run' screen. Summary information for the method is displayed on the left side of the screen. To start the run, close the door of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler and select the **Run** button. If the Administrator has chosen to enforce maintenance on the system, a warning will be displayed if a maintenance run has not been successfully performed prior to starting a method run. You must complete the required maintenance to start a run.



Figure 35. 'Method Run' screen. At the top of this screen, the selected method is indicated. A summary of the selected method is displayed on the left side of the screen. Close the door of the instrument and select the Run button to start the selected method.

Once a method is started, you will be presented with a series of user interface screens. These screens will request user input for various run-time variables (e.g., sample number, elution volume, etc.) and will provide a detailed description of how to place the labware and samples needed on the deck of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. More detailed information regarding the specifics of the variables that need to be entered and the deck setup instructions for preprocessing, quantitation, amplification and normalization can be found in the Technical Manual specific to your method.

Close the door of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler when prompted after deck setup is complete (Figure 36).



Figure 36. 'Final Setup' Screen. This is the last user interface screen displayed before the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler starts processing samples. Close the instrument door before selecting the Next button.

While the method runs, the method run screen will update with information regarding the current step in the method and display a progress bar indicating progress through the method. On the lower left side of the screen, you will see an Elapsed Time showing the amount of time the method has been running. Select the **Logs** button during the run to see the instrument log file as it is being generated. If for any reason you need to pause the instrument during a run, select the **Pause** button. The instrument will finish the current step, and the door will unlock, allowing you access to the inside of the instrument. When you are finished with the pause, close the instrument door and select the **Resume** button to resume the run.

If you need to abort the method run currently in progress, select the **Abort** button. When aborting a run, it is recommended to select the **Pause** button to pause the instrument run, and then select the **Abort** button.

If there is a need to perform an immediate stop of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler during a run, select the power button to power the instrument off. The method run will be aborted, and the doors will unlock.

Any samples being processed will be lost if a run is aborted.

5.3.2 Method Completion

Methods can end through one of three mechanisms:

- The method completes successfully.
- The method is aborted by the user.
- The method is aborted as a result of an instrument error.

Method Completes Successfully

When the method completes successfully there will be a message indicating that the method has completed successfully (Figure 37).



Figure 37. Message after method completion. Upon completion of the currently running method, there will be a message indicating that the run has completed successfully.

Open the door of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler, store or discard any unused reagents. Remove any sample tubes, Maxwell[®] deck trays, reagents and processing plates, and either discard or store them appropriately.

A local report will be generated for the run containing run parameters, sample tracking information and user/system information. If the administrator has enabled Auto Export for reports, the report files will be automatically exported to the administrator-specified file location. To access local reports, from the 'Home' screen select the **Results** button (see Section 5.6. Accessing Reports). If connected to the Portal software, run information will be saved to the Portal software.



Method Aborted by the User or an Instrument Error

If the user selects the **Abort** button during a method, or if there is an instrument error that causes the method to abort, a message is displayed, indicating that the instrument should be powered off and any tips or tools be manually removed (Figure 38). If no tips or tools are loaded on the pipetting channels it is not necessary to power the instrument off after an abort. There can be many reasons why a user might choose to abort a method. Many instrument errors can occur because of the presence of unexpected labware on the deck of the instrument. Always use care when setting up the instrument, and confirm that the deck configuration specified by the method setup instructions matches the physical layout of the instrument. After a method is aborted, if the channels are wedged in a piece of labware and are not free to move, or if you are unsure of whether the channels are free to move, power off the instrument and manually remove any tips or tools from the pipetting channels. See Section 5.4, Error Recovery, for instructions on manually resolving hardware issues.

An aborted run (initiated by the user or due to instrument error) will result in the loss of all processed samples.

For any physical crash of the instrument hardware, after resolving the issue and removing any loaded tips or tools, check for visible damage to the pipetting channels. If there is no visible damage, run the Weekly Maintenance method to check instrument functions and calibration. Passing results from the Weekly Maintenance indicate that the instrument is clear to run again. If Weekly Maintenance produces failing results, contact Promega Technical Service (techserv@promega.com) to schedule a service visit.

Manual	System Recovery
	After the method terminates, turn off power to the instrument. Then remove any plungers, tools, or tips manually.
8.	ΟΚ

Figure 38. Message after a method is aborted. If a method is aborted either by the user or an instrument error, the 'Manual System Recovery' screen will be displayed.

5.4 Error Recovery

In the event of an error that results in a physical crash of the system, it may be necessary to turn the system power off and manually resolve any crashes as well as remove tips or tools that are loaded on the system. Follow the instructions below for recovering from a physical crash of the system.

- 1. Power off the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler by selecting the power button on the front right side of the instrument.
- 2. Shut down the Maxprep[™] software by selecting the **X** icon in the upper right corner of the software.
- 3. Prior to resolving any hardware issues, open the door of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler, store or discard any unused reagents. Remove any sample tubes, Maxwell[®] Deck Trays and processing plates, and either discard or store them appropriately.
- Check to see if there is any visible damage to the pipetting channels of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. If there is visible damage, contact Technical Services (techserv@promega.com) to schedule a service visit prior to running the system again.
- 5. If there are any plunger tools loaded on the pipetting channels, remove these manually.
 - a. With the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler powered off, push the pipetting channels up until they are clear of any obstruction.

Note: Wear appropriate personal protective equipment (lab coat, gloves, safety glasses) when removing tips or tools from the system.

- b. Remove carriers or labware to ensure free access to the pipetting channels.
- c. When you remove the tip, any liquid present inside the tip will be released onto the deck. Place something under the channels to catch tips and liquid (e.g., Kimwipes, absorbent paper towel or empty tip box lid).
- d. Pull the pipetting channel downward to access the squeeze drive on the pipetting channel (Figure 39).
- e. To release the squeeze motor, grasp the squeeze drive and rotate counter-clockwise (i.e., if grasping the squeeze drive with the right hand between the thumb and index finger as shown in Figure 39, your thumb should move to the right as your index finger moves to the left). A spring on the pipetting channel will forcibly shuck the tip or tool once the squeeze drive has been loosened.
- f. Push the channel upwards so that it is clear to move side to side.
- g. Repeat Steps c-f for all pipetting channels that have a tip or tool loaded.

Used labware and reagents should be disposed of appropriately according to your institution's procedures for hazardous and biohazardous waste.



Figure 39. Squeeze Drive. Turn the squeeze drive to release any tools or pipette tips from the pipetting channels.

- 6. Any loaded pipette tips or gripper paddles can be removed automatically by starting any pre- or post-processing method. During the initialization, the gripper paddles or pipette tips will be returned to the tool rack or ejected, respectively. The run should then be aborted.
- 7. Once all tips or tools have been released from the pipetting channels, discard any tips or plungers and replace any tools in their appropriate tool holder (Figure 40). When plunger tools are removed from the channels, place them back in the tool holder. When gripper paddles are removed from the channels, replace them in the tool holder so that the pins and magnets are facing toward the center of the tool holder.



Figure 40. Tool Holder. Replace any tools that have been removed from the pipetting channels in their appropriate location on the left side of the instrument.

8. Press the power button to turn on the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. Restart the computer. Start the Maxprep[™] software by double-clicking the Maxprep[™] software icon on the desktop.

- 9. From the 'Home' screen select **Maintenance**, and then run the Weekly Maintenance method. This method will prompt you to clean the deck of the instrument and then will check the calibration of the pipetting channels, the performance of the liquid level sensing mechanisms and the integrity of the pipetting system.
- 10. If the Weekly Maintenance method proceeds to completion and the report indicates that Weekly Maintenance has passed, you are clear to run further methods on the system.
- 11. If the Weekly Maintenance method does not complete, or the report indicates that Weekly Maintenance has not passed, contact Technical Services (**techserv@promega.com**) to troubleshoot the issue and determine whether to schedule a service visit before running the system again.

5.5 Reports

Running a method results in the creation of a local report of sample tracking and run-specific information. Reports will be automatically exported to an administrator-defined drive location if Auto Export functionality has been enabled (see Section 4.3, Administrator Settings).

Local reports provide a mechanism for viewing information about method runs on a per method basis. These reports can be accessed by selecting the **Results** button on the Maxprep[™] 'Home' screen.

A local report is generated after completion of a method run (Figure 41). Included in the local report are sample tracking information, the final status of the method (Completed or Aborted), the time the method was started, the length of time the method took to process, the operator ID and the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler details (software version, firmware version, instrument name, serial number, etc.). A second tab on the report displays the method-specific variable settings that were used for this method.

۲							Max	well® RSC	Wł	nole Blo	ood DI	NA v1.1	.0							-	- 0	? 🗶
		A	в	с	D	E	F	6	н	1	J	к	L	м	N	0	p	Q	R	\$	T	U ^
PRINT	1	Pre-Processing		Maxw	ell® RSC Whole	e Blood	DNA v1.1	1.0														
EXPORT	3																					
	5	Software	Maxprep				Operator	PROMEGAVintegrated														
	6	Maxprep Software Version	v1.1.0				Ran Date	5/30/2018														
	7	Instrument Software Venion Managen Name	v1.0.9.0 Nacednal				Start Time	12:13:41 PM														
	2	Masprep Serial Number	NM85HE2354				Duration	00.11.35														
	10						Ran Status	Completed														
	11																					
	12	Sample ID	Position	Barcode	Container barcode	TubeBack	21	Sample Index	Note C	Latalog Number	None	Departion Mont	h									
	14	1	Ostput		F	Tray	6	1														
	15	2	Input	2		TubeRack	21	2		451520	None	None										
	16	2	Ostput		F	Tray	6	2														
	17	3	Output	3	1	Tubellack	21 6	3	- 1	451520	None	None										
	19	4	Input	4		TubeRack	21	4		451520	None	None										
	20	4	Output		F	Tray	6	4														
	21	5	Input	5		TubeRack	21	5		451520	None	None										_
	22	5	Output		1	Tray	6	5														
	23	6	Ostput	0		Торенаск	6	6	- 1	61520	NOISE	rease										
	25	7	Input	2		TubeRack	21	7	1	\$1520	None	None										
	26	7	Output		r	Tray	6	7														_
	27	8	Inpet	8		TubeRack	21	8		451520	None	None										
	28	8	output	0	r	TubeRack	21	9		151533	None	None										
	30	9	Output		r	Tray	6	9														
	31	10	Input	10		TubeRack	21	10	1	A\$1520	None	None										
	32	10	Output		r	Tray	6	10														
	33	11	Inpet	11		TubeRack	21	11	- '	451520	None	None										
	35	12	inset	12		TubeBack	21	12		851520	None	None										
	36	12	Output		r	Tray	6	12														
	37	13	input	13		TubeRack	21	13	1	N\$1520	None	None										
	38	13	Output		,	Tray	6	13	-		Marrie											
	59	14	Output	1.4		Trav	6	14	- 1	5150	ante.	ravie										
	41	15	input	15		TubeRack	21	15	,	N\$1520	None	Note										
	42	15	Output		F	Tray	6	15														
	43	16	Input	16		TubeRack	21	16		k\$1520	None	None										
	44	16	Output		,	Tray	6	16														
	46																					
	47																					
	48																					_
	49																					
	51																					
	52																					~
	н	+ H Sample Data / Var	ant Variables										C									2

Figure 41. 'Report View' screen. The 'Report View' screen displays a report generated from the most recently run method. Included in this report are sample tracking information, the final status of the method (Completed or Aborted), the time the method run was started, the length of time the method took to process, the operator ID and additional instrument information. A second tab on the report displays method-specific variable settings for this method. In the upper left corner of the screen are **Print** and **Export** buttons that can be used for printing or exporting report information.

Use the buttons on the left side of the 'Report View' screen to:

- Print reports using a printer that can be accessed by the PC.
- **Export** reports in tab-delimited text file format as well as Microsoft Excel[®] format and PDF format depending on administrator settings (Figure 42).

EXP	ORT RESULT	?
Drive\ C:\ Exports\		
Logs\		
		OK CANCEL

Figure 42. 'Export Result' screen. When the Export button is pressed the user is asked to navigate to the folder in which the report files should be saved.

Select the **Export** button to navigate to the file location where the report should be exported, and then select the **OK** button. The Maxprep[™] software exports reports in tab-delimited text format as well as .xlsx format and .pdf format depending on administrator settings. You can use Excel[®] viewer or PDF viewer to view the report.

You can use the tab-delimited format file (*.txt) with Laboratory Information Management Systems (i.e., LIMS). An example of the tab-delimited format file is shown in Figure 43.

[3] 2010-05-30; [2:13-0] Manual REC Whole Read DNA V1.0.04- Natural	-	ø	×
File Edit Format View Help			
PreProcessing Hausell® RSC Whole Bload DNA v1.1.0			^
Software Human			
Nacros Sefbara Weston v1.1.0			
Instrument Software Version v1.0.9.0			
Namprep Name Narwhol			
Percent relation of the second s			
Operator PROMEGA\integrated			
Num tanke 3-3/30/ARTH Senar Time 19/12/A/10A			
Den Tame 12:25:16 PM			
Duration 00:11:35			
Run Status Completed			
Sample ID Position Harcode Container Harcode Container Deck Index Sample Index Note Catalog Number Lot Number Expiration Ponth			
1 Input 1 TubeRack 21 1 AS1520 None None			
1 Output F Tray 6 1			
2 INDUT 2 INDUTATION 21 2 ASIS/20 Mone None			
3 Terut 3 Tubetack 21 3 AS1520 None None			
3 Output F Tray 6 3			
4 Imput 4 TubeRack 21 4 ASIS20 None			
a uutput i inny 6 a 5 Janut 5 TubeRaik 21 5 ASISDO None None			
S Output F Tray 6 S			
6 Input 6 TubeRack 21 6 AS1520 None None			
6 Output F Tray 6 6			
7 DEPUT / LODERACK Z1 / AS1520 BKPB BOTH 7 DEPUT F TONY 6 7			
8 Input 8 TubeRack 21 8 A51528 None None			
8 Output F Tray 6 8			
9 2FpUT 9 1004FbCK 22 9 AS1549 8019 1019			
10 Input 10 TubeRack 21 10 AS1520 None None			
10 Output F Tray 6 19			
11 Input 11 Tobafack 21 11 ASIS20 None None			
11 042put > (ray 6 11 12 Tenut 12 TubeRati 21 12 AS1520 None None			
12 Output F Tray 6 12			
13 Input 13 TubeRack 21 13 A51520 None None			
1.5 GALEPAC F 1749 6 13 14 Tanat 14 Talaback 51 14 851010 Kan Man			
an angol an isotronik an an nalado mkre nore			
15 Input 15 TubeRack 21 15 AS1520 None None			
15 Output F Tray 6 15			
16 Detruit E Trav 6 16			
Rame Value Hin / Max Editable			
Samola Hunder 1b 1 / 48 User Samola Wolman (a)) 5(6 58 / 56 / 56 / 56			
Elution Volume (al) 60 60 / 150 User			
Maxwell RSC (16 Sample) Instrument False n/a Immutable			
Alternating Sample/Empty Layout False n/a Inmutable			× 3
6			2

Figure 43. Example of an exported text file in the tab-delimited format.

5.6 Accessing Reports

From the 'Home' screen of the Maxprep[™] software, select the **Results** button to access method reports and system maintenance reports. The 'Results' screen displays a listing of the reports for the methods that have been run (Figure 44). You can filter reports by selecting the buttons on the left side to view reports for runs completed **Today**, **This Month**, the past **Six Months**, **This Year** or **All** Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler runs completed over the life of the instrument. You can also use the **Method**, **System** or **All Types** buttons on the left side of the screen to toggle between report types.

Select the column headers to sort the reports based on column contents. Select the desired row to see a detailed view of the report data from that method run (Figure 45). Administrators can delete records from the software by selecting the **X** icon to the right of the desired report row if the option to Allow Deletion of Results has been enabled in the software preferences (see Section 4.3, Administrator Settings). Select the **Export All** button to export all reports to a designated drive location in tab-delimited text format as well as .pdf and Excel® format as specified by the Administrator (see Section 4.3, Administrator Settings).

۲		43 RESULTS		- 🗖 ? 🕱
TODAY	DATE/TIME	NAME	түре	BY
THIS MONTH	6/6/2018 1:55:11 PM	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
SIX MONTHS	6/6/2018 1:35:56 PM	Maxwell® RSC Whole Blood DNA v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
THIS YEAR	6/6/2018 9:58:06 AM	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
ALL	6/6/2018 9:30:43 AM	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Blood v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	6/5/2018 3:08:34 PM	Maxwell® RSC RNA FFPE v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	6/5/2018 1:02:28 PM	FFPE Lysis Reaction Preparation v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	6/4/2018 2:02:39 PM	Maxwell® RSC DNA FFPE v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	6/4/2018 1:30:28 PM	Maxwell® RSC Whole Blood DNA v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	6/4/2018 9:48:09 AM	FFPE Lysis Reaction Preparation v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
METHODS	6/1/2018 1:47:15 PM	Maxwell® RSC simplyRNA Cells v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
ALL TYPES	5/31/2018 2:40:49 PM	Quantitative PCR Setup v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	5/31/2018 12:35:37 PM	Maxwell® RSC RNA FFPE v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	5/31/2018 10:27:05 AM	FFPE Lysis Reaction Preparation v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	5/31/2018 9:57:05 AM	FFPE Lysis Reaction Preparation v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	5/30/2018 12:13:41 PM	Maxwell® RSC Whole Blood DNA v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
	5/30/2018 10:19:05 AM	Maxwell® RSC DNA FFPE v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated
EXPORT ALL	5/29/2018 2:11:45 PM	Quantitative PCR Setup v1.1.0	Method	PROMEGA\integrated

Figure 44. 'Results' screen. The 'Results' screen lists the reports from all of the methods that have been run. Select any given report listing to see a detailed view of the report data from that method run. Filter the displayed results using the Method, System or All Types buttons on the left side of the 'Results' screen. Selecting a date range button on the left side of the screen will filter the reports displayed based on their run date.

A	В	с	D	E	F	G	н	1	к	L	M	N	0	р	Q	R	S	т
2 Pre-Processing		Maxw	ell [®] RSC Whol	e Blood	DNA v1.	1.0												
3																		
4																		
5 Software	Maxprep				Operator	PROMEGAyntegrated												
6 Maxprep Software Version	v1.1.0				Run Date	5/50/2018												
7 Instrument Software Version	Naroshal				Fod Time	12:13:41 PM												
9 Masprep Serial Number	NMISHE2354				Duration	02:11:35												
10					Run Status	Completed												
11																		
12 Sample ID	Position	Barcode	Container Barcode	Container	Deck Index	Sample Index N	ote Catalog Numbe	r Lot Number	r Expiration Month									
13 1	Input	1		TubeRack	21	1	A\$1520	None	None									
14 1	Output		F	Tray	6	1	464630	Marra										
15 2	Outrut	2	F	Trav	6	2	A31320	none	receive									
17 3	Input	3		TubeRack	21	3	A\$1520	None	None									
18 3	Output		F	Tray	6	3												
19 4	Input	4		TubeRack	21	4	A\$1520	None	None									
20 4	Output		F	Tray	6	4												
21 5	Input	5		TubeRack	21	5	A\$1520	None	None									
22 5	Output		P	Tray	6	5												
23 0	Output	0		TUDERSCK	21	0	A01520	None	None									
25 7	Innut	7		TabaPark	21	7	451520	None	Noos									
26 7	Output		F	Tray	6	7												
27 8	Input	8		TubeRack	21	8	A\$1520	None	None									
28 8	Output		F	Tray	6	8												
29 9	Input	9		TubeRack	21	9	A\$1520	None	None									
30 9	Output		F	Tray	6	9												
31 10	Input	10		тиренаск	21	10	A\$1520	None	None									
32 10	locut	11		TubaBack	21	10	451530	Mone	Maga									
34 11	Output		F	Trav	6	11												
35 12	Input	12		TubeRack	21	12	A\$1520	None	None									
36 12	Output		P.	Tray	6	12												
37 13	Input	13		TubeRack	21	13	A\$1520	None	None									
38 13	Output		F	Tray	6	13												
39 14	Output	14		TUDERSCK	21 C	14	A01520	None	None									
41 15	locut	15		TabaPark	21	15	451520	None	Noos									
42 15	Output		F	Tray	6	15												
43 16	Input	16		TubeRack	21	16	A\$1520	None	None									
44 16	Output		F	Tray	6	16												
45																		
46																		
4/																		
40																		
50																		
51																		
52																		

Figure 45. Method report. An example of the sample tracking information present in a method run report. The second tab on the report displays variables set during the run.

6.1 Weekly Cleaning

Wear gloves and appropriate personal protective equipment. If the instrument is used with biohazardous materials, dispose of any cleaning materials used in accordance with your institutional guidelines.

Used labware and reagents should be disposed of appropriately according to your institution's procedures for hazardous and biohazardous waste. Regularly clean the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler during operation. We recommend a full cleaning of the system as part of the Weekly Maintenance procedure. If samples or reagents have been spilled, clean the instrument immediately to avoid damage or contamination of samples.

Follow the instructions below to perform a full cleaning of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.

- Do not remove the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler outer panels for cleaning. This will void the warranty.
- Do not use a spray bottle to soak instrument surfaces with large volumes of liquid.
- Never allow liquids to remain on instrument surfaces for extended periods of time.
- Do not use bleach solutions for cleaning any instrument surfaces.
- 1. From the 'Home' screen, select the **Maintenance** button. Close the instrument door and select the **Weekly Maintenance** item from the list of maintenance methods.
- 2. Once the method has started, open the door of the instrument to clean the instrument. While cleaning the instrument during the Weekly Maintenance method, it is possible to manually move the system gantry left and right to access carriers and tip waste.
- 3. Remove any Maxwell[®] deck trays, samples and consumables from the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.
- 4. Remove the tip eject bar from the waste position (Figure 46) and clean with a disinfectant spray such as Steris LpH[®] following the manufacturer's instructions.
- 5. Remove the tip waste bin from the instrument (Figure 46). Remove the waste bag and dispose of any used tips. Clean the tip waste container with disinfectant spray and then rinse with water. Do not autoclave the tip waste bin.
- 6. Line the waste bin with a new waste bag. Reorder Promega Maxprep[™] Waste Bags, Clear, (Cat.# AS9305). Return the waste bin to the system.

- 7. Perform the following instructions for each of the carriers that have a handle on the front.
 - a. Remove the carrier from the deck of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. To remove carriers, grasp the handle on the carrier and pull it straight out toward you, supporting the bottom of the carrier as you remove it from the system.
 - b. Clean the carrier and the deck area underneath the carrier with a disinfectant spray such as Steris LpH[®] following the manufacturer's instructions.
 - c. Replace the carrier at the same deck location from which it was removed. Support the bottom of the carrier, and place the back edge of the carrier on the track positions at the front of the instrument; then slide the carrier straight back until it touches the backstop of the instrument.



Figure 46. Tip eject bar and plastic waste bin. To the right of the carriers is a waste position that has a removable black tip eject bar as well as a calibration block. On the far right side of the instrument is a removable black plastic waste bin that is used for disposal of used tips.

- 8. Clean the four Pipetting Channels with a towel wetted with 70% ethanol.
- 9. Clean interior and exterior panels and door with a towel wetted with 70% ethanol.
- 10. Close the instrument door, and select **OK** on the 'Weekly Maintenance' screen to proceed with checking pipetting channel performance and instrument calibration.
- 11. Once the Weekly Maintenance method is complete, replace the tip eject bar on the waste position. The pin on the waste position should fit in the small hole at the front of the tip eject bar, the large cut out should be at the back of the instrument and the angled side of the tip eject bar should be on the right side and facing downward toward the waste bin.
6.2 Dealing with Spills

Bleach reacts with guanidine thiocyanate, which may be present in the Maxwell® Cartridges, and should not be added to any sample waste containing lysis solutions. Do not use bleach to clean Maxwell® reagent spills. Wipe up any spills immediately. If any material spills in the instrument, wipe up the material with a cloth dampened with 70% ethanol. Note that the reagents contain hazardous materials; therefore, dispose of the cleaning materials according to your institutional guidelines. Wipe well once visible material is removed. In case of spills in the instrument where there is a potential biohazard, wipe up the spill with paper towels and wash the spill area with a detergent solution such as Steris LpH[®] following the manufacturer's instructions. Dispose of towels used according to your institutional guidelines for biohazardous waste.

For questions not addressed here, please contact your local Promega Branch, Office or Distributor. Contact information available at: **www.promega.com** E-mail: **techserv@promega.com**

Symptoms	Causes and Comments
PC touch screen does not appear to	Verify that the power cords are securely connected to the PC and monitor.
be working	Verify that the USB cable is securely connected between the PC and monitor.
	Restart the Maxprep [™] Liquid Handler PC, and launch the Maxprep [™] software. If the issue is not resolved, contact Promega Technical Services for further assistance.
Cannot load new methods or change method run parameters	Only operators with administrator-level access to the Maxprep™ software have the ability to change certain functions. If you do not have administrator-level access, contact your site administrator.
Power failure during a run	In the event of a power failure, turn off the instrument and the PC. When power has returned, turn the instrument and PC back on.
	• An aborted run (due to power failure) will result in the loss of all the samples.
	Do not attempt to repurify samples from an aborted run.
Communication failure with Portal software	In the event of a communication failure with the Portal software, the software will not allow another method to be run until one of the following two conditions are met:
	Communication is re-established to the Portal software.
	The administrator disables Portal sample tracking temporarily.
	Contact your IT department to determine whether a network outage or some other network communication failure has occurred and how to resolve the issue.

Symptoms	Causes and Comments
Communication failure with Portal software (continued)	Data from the run that occurred prior to communication failure will not be lost. It will be exported to Portal software when communication is re-established.
	If Portal sample tracking has been disabled temporarily, remember to start Portal sample tracking again when the communication issue has been resolved.
	If there is a persistent problem exporting a given set of data to the Portal software, the administrator can access the Portal tab on the 'Preferences' screen (Section 4.3, Administrator Settings) and select the Clear Pending Export button to discard the data currently being exported.
Instrument connection errors	In the event that errors in instrument communication or functions are observed when starting a method, a full restart of the system is required. Shut down the Maxprep [™] software, and turn off the Maxprep [™] Instrument. Restart the Maxprep [™] Instrument and restart the Maxprep [™] PC. When the PC has finished rebooting, restart the Maxprep [™] software.

7.1 Errors and Warnings

Error	Explanation
Initialization Failure: Access Denied, not a valid Promega User, Please contact your system administrator	Promega User is not set up correctly in Windows® operating system. Consult the Appendix of this Operating Manual and/or contact your administrator/IT personnel to resolve this issue.
Method: Aborted By User	User aborted method.
	• An aborted run (initiated by the user) will result in the loss of all the samples.
	Do not attempt to repurify samples from an aborted run.
A previous instrument task is still active. Please try again later	User tried to do something while previous run was active. Wait for the current process to complete. If error still persists, contact your IT administrator or Promega Technical Services.
An error during method initialization. Unable to ping instrument	The Maxprep [™] software is unable to communicate with the Maxprep [™] Liquid Handler. Make sure the Maxprep [™] Liquid Handler is on and wait until the green light on the gantry bar code scanner is visible. Shut down and restart the Maxprep [™] software.

7.2 Using a USB Flash Drive

- When using a USB flash drive, insert it before running any method, and do not remove it until the method is finished.
- Do not insert or remove a USB flash drive while instrument is running.
- Since USB flash drives may vary from vendor to vendor or from type to type, incompatibilities can occur. If your USB flash drive is not detected after a few seconds or if you encounter any issues with the USB flash drive, shut down and restart the PC. Also try a different brand of USB flash drive.
- If the PC becomes unresponsive after inserting a USB flash drive, shut down and restart the PC and the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.

8.1 Service

We recommend that the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler receive a preventive maintenance service visit at least once a year.

8.2 Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Service

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is designed to provide years of consistent performance. If a problem arises with your instrument, please contact Promega or your local Promega representative for support. Visit the Promega Web site at: **www.promega.com** for the contact information for the Promega branch or distributor nearest you. If further action is required, repair options will be presented and an on-site service visit may be scheduled.

8.3 Instrument Disposal

Contact your local Promega Representative for disposal of the instrument. Please follow your institutional and country-specific requirements to handle the disposal of accessories. The instrument must be decontaminated prior to disposal.

9.1 Warranty

Upon purchase of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler, the instrument will be covered by a one-year Standard Warranty. The Standard Warranty covers all parts and labor. Additionally, it includes one annual on-site Preventive Maintenance visit by a service technician. Additional Preventive Maintenance visits are available separately for purchase. After the warranty period is over, the customer can continue to receive the same comprehensive service and support from Promega as when the system was under warranty by purchasing one of the options listed in Section 9.2.

9.2 Warranty and Service Agreement Options

Instrument damage due to customer neglect or negligence are not covered by Warranties or Service Agreements. Channel replacement due to instrument crashes are not covered by Warranties or Service Agreements.

Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Premier Warranty Upgrade (Cat.# SA1391)

The Premier Warranty Upgrade includes all parts, labor and on-site service visits by a factorytrained service technician within 2 business days (where available). Additionally, it includes one annual on-site Preventive Maintenance visit by a service technician. Additional Preventive Maintenance visits are available separately.

Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Standard Service Agreement (Cat.# SA1392)

The Standard Service Agreement covers all parts, labor and on-site visits. The system will be repaired and returned to original factory specifications. Additionally, it includes one annual on-site Preventive Maintenance visit by a service technician. Additional Preventive Maintenance visits are available separately.

Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Premier Service Agreement (Cat.# SA1393)

The Premier Service Agreement includes all parts, labor and on-site visits. The system will be repaired and returned to original factory specifications. A service technician will be on-site within 2 business days for repairs. Additionally, it includes one annual on-site Preventive Maintenance visit by a service technician. Additional Preventive Maintenance visits are available separately.

Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Preventive Maintenance (Cat.# SA1396)

To keep the system operating at peak performance, we recommend that Maxprep[™] Liquid Handlers receive a Preventive Maintenance check at least every 12 months of use. During this procedure, our qualified service personnel test the instrument, check parts for wear and replace them as needed. Additionally, the system is aligned and functionality is verified. Documentation for your files is provided. The Preventive Maintenance service is performed by scheduling an on-site Preventive Maintenance visit.

Warranty Benefit	Standard Warranty	Premier Warranty
Warranty Period	1 Year	1 Year
Parts and Labor	Yes	Yes
Shipping of Parts	Yes (UPS Ground, 5–7 business days)	Yes (UPS Overnight)
Loaner Instrument	No	No
On-Site Support	Yes (within 5 business days)	Yes (within 2 business days)
Preventive Maintenance	Yes (1)	Yes (1)

Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler Installation Qualification and Operational Qualification (Cat.# SA1397, SA1398, SA1399)

The Installation Qualification service product includes a series of formal instrument checks, delivers written documentation of instrument functionality, and demonstrates that everything ordered with the instrument is supplied and installed at the customer's laboratory. This service product must be delivered by a Promega representative who is certified to perform the Installation Qualification. The service product involves a site visit to perform:

- Installation by qualified Promega personnel
- Inspection of shipping containers, instrument and accessories
- · Comparison of items received vs. items on purchase order
- Inspection of laboratory conditions
- Review of all hazards and precautions with users
- Confirmation/installation of correct firmware version
- Testing of instrument run
- Recording and documenting installation and actions

The Operational Qualification service product demonstrates that the instrument functions according to its operational specifications. This service product must be delivered by a Promega representative who is certified to perform the Operational Qualification. The service product involves a site visit to perform:

- Running of operational verification tests
- Documenting of all calibration and test results
- Training of customer(s) to operate the instrument
- Training of customer(s) to use the log book
- Completion of customer-specific log book, instrument sticker and OQ documentation

Limited Warranty and Service Guidelines

Pursuant to this Warranty, Promega warrants to the original purchaser of the Promega Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler that Promega will provide the parts and labor required for service and repair of the instrument for one year from the date of purchase. Your Warranty includes on-site service and repair of your instrument. This Warranty may be renewed, in one-year terms, provided the renewal is requested prior to the expiration of the current Warranty or Service Agreement.

Promega agrees, as its sole responsibility under this Warranty, and upon prompt notice of a defect, to repair or replace (at Promega's discretion) any instrument discovered to be defective within the term of this Warranty. This Warranty does not include repair or replacement necessitated by accident, neglect, misuse, unauthorized repair or modification of the instrument.

This Warranty and the remedies set forth herein are exclusive and in lieu of all other express or implied warranties (including implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose and noninfringement), and no other warranties shall be binding upon Promega. In no event, shall Promega be liable for any special, incidental or consequential damages resulting from the use or malfunction of this instrument or the system with which it is used.

Out-of-Warranty Service

Contact Promega or your local Promega representative. We will be happy to assist you by telephone at no charge. Repair service will be quoted prior to any work being performed.

9.3 Related Products

PRODUCT	SIZE	CAT.#
Maxwell® RSC Instrument	1 each	AS4500
Maxwell® RSC 48 Instrument	1 each	AS8500
Maxwell® FSC Instrument	1 each	AS4600
Maxwell® CSC Instrument	1 each	AS6000
Maxwell® CSC 48 Instrument	1 each	AS8000
Bar Code Reader, Maxwell® Systems	1 each	AS3200
Maxprep™ UV Lamp	1 each	AS9310
Maxprep™ Waste Bags, Clear	100/pack	AS9305
Maxwell® RSC/CSC Deck Tray	1 each	SP6019
Maxwell® RSC/CSC 48 Front Deck Tray	1 each	AS8401
Maxwell® RSC/CSC 48 Back Deck Tray	1 each	AS8402
Maxwell® FSC Deck Tray	1 each	AS4016
Maxprep [™] Carrier, Maxwell [®] RSC	1 each	AS9402
Maxprep™ Carrier, Maxwell® RSC 48 Front	1 each	AS9403
Maxprep™ Carrier, Maxwell® RSC 48 Back	1 each	AS9404
Maxprep™ Liquid Handler, RSC Carriers	1 each	AS9105
Maxprep™ Liquid Handler, RSC 48 Carriers	1 each	AS9205
1.1ml, Square-Well, V-Bottom Deep Well Plate	25/pack	V6821
Nunc 2.0ml Deep Well Plates (Sterile)	60/pack	AS9307
2.0ml Deep Well Plates (Non-Sterile)	60/pack	AS9309
Maxprep™ 1000µl Conductive Disposable Tips, Filtered (3,840)	40/box	AS9303
Maxprep™ 300µl Conductive Disposable Tips, Filtered (5,760)	60/box	AS9302
Maxprep™ 50µl Conductive Disposable Tips, Filtered (5,760)	60/box	AS9301
Maxwell® RSC Plunger Pack	1 each	AS1670
Maxprep™ Reagent Reservoir, 50ml	28/pack	AS9304
Maxprep™ Plunger Holder	1 each	AS9408
Maxprep™ Carrier, 12–13mm Sample Tubes	1 each	AS9405
Maxprep™ Carrier, 15–17mm Sample Tubes	1 each	AS9406
Maxprep™ Carrier, 10mm Sample Tubes	1 each	AS9407
Maxprep™ Tube Rack Stabilizer	1 each	AS1910
Maxprep [™] 3-Position Reagent Tube Holder	1 each	AS9409
Microtubes, 1.5ml	1,000/bag	V1231
Maxprep™ Gripper Paddle	1 each	AS9410
Maxprep™ Plunger Tool	1 each	AS9411
Maxprep™ Reagent Carrier	1 each	AS9412

10 Certificate of Decontamination

Disinfection and decontamination are required prior to shipping any instrument accessories for repair. Returned items must be accompanied by a signed and dated Certificate of Decontamination, which must be provided in the shipping box.

To disinfect and decontaminate: Wipe exposed surfaces of the accessories using a cloth dampened with 70% ethanol. Follow immediately with a cloth dampened with deionized water. Repeat the procedure as many times as required to effectively disinfect and decontaminate the instrument.

Failure to follow these decontamination guidelines, sign and return the Decontamination Form will result in decontamination charges before the instrument will be serviced.

Select either (A) or (B):

- A. I confirm that the returned items have not been contaminated by body fluids or by toxic, carcinogenic, radioactive or other hazardous materials.
- B. I confirm that the returned items have been decontaminated and can be handled without exposing personnel to health hazards.

	g.	Nauloactive
ned:		
ace:		
ame (block capital le	tters):	
e of radioactive con was used with radio	tamination. (** The s pactive materials.)	signature of a
ace:		
ame (block capital le	tters):	
	med: ace: ame (block capital le ee of radioactive con t was used with radic ace: ame (block capital le	med: ace: ame (block capital letters): ee of radioactive contamination. (** The s t was used with radioactive materials.) ace: ame (block capital letters):

11 Appendix: Configuring the PC

11.1 Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler and PC

The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is controlled by Maxprep[™] software on a PC and touchscreen monitor that are provided with the system. This appendix describes the setup and configuration options for the PC provided with the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler.



Your IT department or site Administrator should configure the PC according to the IT rules and IT procedures pertinent to your site. The following is a set of guidelines for your IT personnel or site Administrator.

We do not recommend loading additional programs onto the PC because these may interfere with the instrument operation.

Some institutions require antivirus software installed on PCs within the institution. If installing an antivirus program please ensure it is set to manual, not automatic, update.

Antivirus scanning will slow the performance of the PC and may affect the performance of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler while it is processing samples.

Additional recommendations:

- Disable automatic Windows® updates and virus scans.
- Disable automatic power off, sleep or hibernation settings.
- Disable "Fast Startup". Set the power button to Shut Down, not Sleep.
- Disable any other automatically or manually started software that would consume PC resources during operation.
- Ensure there are no domain policies that would overwrite any of the above settings.
- Do not disable USB communication as this is essential for instrument operation.

Note: The PC that is provided with the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is already configured for the settings listed above.

Depending on your institution's IT policy, you may or may not be able to configure or change the settings for the PC if it is connected to your site network domain. Do not load other programs on the PC because these may interfere with instrument operation. The first time you use the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler and PC, you should check the configuration of the following options. Settings can be changed later, if required, by following these instructions again.

Information provided in this document is not meant to be a single instruction set for configuring the PC. Rather, the instructions provided herein are intended to be used as individual descriptions of how to configure various options within the PC environment. Perform the instruction sets that are applicable to your particular site.

11.2 Glossary

For users who are unfamiliar with the Windows[®] 10 operating system, this section describes terms and actions common to this operating system.

'Lock' Screen: Windows[®] user accounts with password protection or network domain user accounts need to sign in to the PC to access the Maxprep[™] software. When the PC is started, restarted or in a locked state, the 'Lock' screen will be displayed. If prompted on the 'Lock' screen, select Ctrl+Alt+Delete to access the login and password text boxes. Enter username and password information, and then select return or the arrow key to sign in.

'Desktop' Screen: The 'Desktop' screen (Figure 47) is the starting point for the instructions provided in this document. The Task bar at the bottom of the 'Desktop' screen displays icons that provide access to the various functions described in this document. On the left side of the task bar are the **Start** button and the **Search** button. These buttons will be referenced throughout this document.



Figure 47. The 'Desktop' screen. At the bottom of this screen is the Task bar. Access to the options and settings referenced in this document is provided by the **Start** and **Search** buttons on the left side of the Task bar. Swipe upward from the bottom of the screen to expose the Task bar.

Start Menu: The Start menu (Figure 48) is the major access point for settings and functions on the PC. The left side of the Start menu contains buttons for **Accounts**, **Settings** and **Power**.



Figure 48. The Start menu. The left side of the Start menu displays buttons for Accounts, Settings and Power (indicated with orange circles from top to bottom).

11.3 Adjusting Volume Settings

Volume settings on the PC can be adjusted through one of two means.

- 1. On the keyboard select Fn+F7 to mute the speaker, Fn+F8 to decrease the speaker volume, or Fn+F9 to increase the speaker volume on the PC.
- 2. Select the **Speaker** icon on the right side of the task bar to open a volume slider. Use the slider to increase, decrease or mute the speaker on the PC.

11.4 Configuring Date and Time Settings

The current date and time will be configured during installation of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler. After installation, if there is a need to change the Date, Time or Time Zone please contact Promega Technical Services for information on how this can be accomplished.

11.5 Managing Local Windows® User Accounts

Operator credentials and access levels for the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software are controlled through assigning accounts in the Windows[®] operating system to one of two Promega access-level groups. The sections below detail the process of adding and removing local Windows[®] user accounts that can be assigned to the access-level groups for the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software. The instructions for adding and removing local Windows[®] user accounts are intended to be used when the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is run as a standalone device (i.e., not connected to a network domain). To connect to your site internet domain, consult with your IT department and follow the instructions in Section 11.9, Connecting to a Network.

When your Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler arrives, the PC will be configured with a Windows[®] user account called Maxprep. This account is password protected (Default Password = Promega) and is configured with Windows[®] administrator access rights as well as Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software administrator access rights.

Note: If the PC is connected to your site internet domain, your IT department should be consulted on how to add or remove users on the PC. Do not use these instructions if accounts on your company domain are used to access the PC.

11.5.1 Creating Local Windows® User Accounts

If the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler system is run as a stand-alone device (i.e., not connected to your site domain), you can create local Windows[®] user accounts on the PC for each user of the system. To create a new user in the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software, you will first have to create a new account in Windows[®] 10 and then assign this account to one of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler access-level groups. Below are instructions for creating a new, local account in the Windows[®] 10 operating system.

Notes:

- a. If the PC is connected to your site internet domain, your IT department should be consulted on how to add users to the domain that can be used on the PC. Do not use these instructions to create a new local account on the PC if accounts on your company domain are used to access the PC.
- b. Only a Windows[®] user account with administrator-level access in Windows[®] can create new local accounts in the Windows[®] operating system.
- 1. Close the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software if it is open. Select the **X** in the upper right corner of the screen, and then confirm that you want to exit.
- 2. Select the **Start** button on the left side of the Task bar. Select the **Settings** icon to open the 'Windows Settings' screen (Figure 49).



Figure 49. The 'Windows Settings' screen. The 'Windows Settings' screen provides access to multiple functions that can be used to configure options and settings for the PC.

3.	Select the Accounts button on the 'Windows® Settings' screen to open the 'Accounts'
	screen (Figure 50).

Sett	ngs		-	×
Fi Acc	Home nd a setting	Q		
RE	Your info			
	Email & app accounts	USER		
S	Sign-in options	Local Account Administrator		
٢	Access work or school			
R,	Family & other people	Windows is better when your settings and files automatically sync. Use a Microsoft account to easily get all your stuff on all your devices.		
С	Sync your settings	Sign in with a Microsoft account instead		
		Create your picture		
		O Camera		
		Browse for one		

Figure 50. 'Accounts' screen. Settings related to Windows® user accounts can be managed from this screen.

4. From the list on the left side of the screen, select the **Family & other people** button to display account settings for this PC (Figure 51).

Sett	ings		-	×
۲	Home	Your family		
F	ind a setting $\begin{tabular}{c} \end{tabular}$ rounts	Sign in with a Microsoft account to see your family here or add any new members to your family. Family members get their own sign-in and desktop. You can help kids stay safe with appropriate websites, time limits, apps, and games.		
RE	Your info	Sign in with a Microsoft account		
M	Email & app accounts	Other people		
Q	Sign-in options	Allow people who are not part of your family to sign in with their		
Ē	Access work or school	own accounts. This won't add them to your family.		
٩,	Family & other people	+ Add someone else to this PC		
С	Sync your settings	8 PromegaService Administrator - Local account		
		Set up assigned access		

Figure 51. Managing accounts. Windows[®] user accounts can be created, removed and managed from the 'Family & other people' tab of the 'Accounts' screen.

5. To add a new user account, select the + sign next to the *Add someone else to this PC* heading (Figure 51). This will open the 'Create an account for this PC' screen (Figure 52).

Create an account for this PC	
If you want to use a password, choose something that will be easy for you to remember but hard for others to guess.	
Who's going to use this PC?	
Technician X	
Enter password	
Enter password	
Re-enter password	
Password hint	
Next	

Figure 52. Creating a new account. Enter name and password information to define the sign-in settings for a new Windows[®] user account on the 'Create an account for this PC' screen.

- 6. On the 'Create an account for this PC' screen, enter the username, password and password hint for the new local user account where indicated. Then select **Next** to create the new user account, and return to the 'Accounts' screen.
- 7. The new user account should now be listed under the *Other people* heading on the 'Accounts' screen.
- 8. By default, the new user account will have user access level rights within the Windows[®] 10 operating system. If you desire the new user account to have administrator rights, select the user account under the *Other people* heading to open options for that user (Figure 53).

Settings		-	×
Home	Your family		
Find a setting P	Sign in with a Microsoft account to see your family here or add any new members to your family. Family members get their own sign-in and desktop. You can help kids stay safe with appropriate websites, time limits, apps, and games.		
R≡ Your info	Sign in with a Microsoft account		
🖾 Email & app accounts	Other people		
🔍 Sign-in options	Allow people who are not part of your family to sign in with their		
C Access work or school	own accounts. This won't add them to your family.		
A Family & other people	+ Add someone else to this PC		
C Sync your settings	PromegaService Administrator - Local account		
	R Technician Local account		
	Change account type Remove		
	Set up assigned access		

Figure 53. Assigning account options. Select any of the listed Windows[®] user accounts to access options for changing the account type.

9. Select the Change account type button to open the 'Change account type' screen (Figure 54). Using the drop-down menu under the Account type heading, select whether this user should have Administrator or Standard User access rights within the Windows[®] 10 operating system. Select OK to save these changes or Cancel to discard the changes for this user and return to the 'Change account type' screen.

Note: Changing the account type for a user only affects their access level in the Windows[®] 10 operating system, not in the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software. Follow the instructions in Section 11.6 to change access level rights within the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software.

nange account type			
8 Technician Local Account			
count type			
standard User	<u> </u>		

Figure 54. Changing account type. Use the drop-down menu on the 'Change account type' screen to assign the selected Windows[®] user account Standard User or Administrator access rights in the Windows[®] operating system.

10. You have now added a new account to Windows[®] 10. Select the **X** in the upper right corner of the 'Accounts' screen to close the screen. Proceed to Section 11.6 to assign access levels for the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software to this new account, or repeat these steps to create additional accounts.



Changing the account type for a user only affects the access level in the Windows® 10 operating system, not in the Maxprep™ software. Follow the instructions in Section 11.6 to change access level rights within the Maxprep™ software.

11.5.2 Removing a Local Windows® User Account

If the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler system is run as a stand-alone device (i.e., not connected to your site domain), you can remove local Windows[®] accounts on the PC that are no longer necessary. Below are instructions for removing a local Windows[®] user account in the Windows[®] 10 operating system.

Notes:

- a. Only a Windows[®] user account with administrator-level access in the Windows[®] operating system can remove accounts.
- b. If the PC is connected to your company internet domain, your IT department should be consulted on how to limit access to the PC. Domain users logged into the PC will not have access to run the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software unless they have been added to one of the Promega access groups (Section 11.6). Do not use these instructions to remove an account from the PC if accounts on your company domain are used to access the PC.
- c. Make sure the local Windows[®] user account to be deleted is signed out of the PC (refer to Section 11.7, Managing the Current Active Account).
- 1. Close the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software if it is open. Select the **X** in the upper left corner of the screen, and then confirm that you want to exit.
- 2. Confirm that the Windows[®] user account to be removed is not signed into Windows[®]. Select the **Start** button on the left side of the Task bar. Select the **Accounts** icon from the left side of the Start menu to open the Account information popup (Figure 55). Other user accounts will be listed and indicated as signed in if the account is currently signed in on the PC.



Figure 55. Account information popup. Accessed from the Start menu, this popup displays the Windows[®] user accounts on the PC and indicates which accounts are signed in.

- 3. If the account to be removed is signed in on the PC, select that account name in the Account information popup to switch to that account. Once you have changed to the account to be removed, from the 'Desktop' screen, select the **Start** button in the lower left corner of the screen. Select the **Accounts** icon from the left side of the Start menu to open the Account information popup. Select **Sign Out** to sign out of the account that will be removed.
- 4. After signing out, sign back into an account with administrator-level access in Windows[®] operating system.
- From the 'Desktop' screen, swipe upward from the bottom of the screen to expose the Task bar, and then select the **Start** button on the left side of the Task bar. Select the **Settings** icon to open the 'Windows Settings' screen (Figure 56).



Figure 56. The 'Windows Settings' screen. The 'Windows Settings' screen provides access to multiple functions that can be used to configure options and settings for the Tablet PC.

Settings		-	×
Home			
Find a setting			
Accounts			
RE Your info			
🖾 Email & app accounts	USER		
🛇 Sign-in options	Local Account Administrator		
Access work or school			
8, Family & other people	Windows is better when your settings and files automatically sync. Use a Microsoft account to easily get all your stuff on all your devices.		
C Sync your settings	Sign in with a Microsoft account instead		
	Create your picture		
	Browse for one		

6. Select the **Accounts** button on the 'Windows Settings' screen to open the 'Accounts' screen (Figure 57).

Figure 57. 'Accounts' screen. Settings related to Windows[®] user accounts can be managed from the 'Accounts' screen.

- 7. From the list on the left side of the screen, select the **Family & other people** button to display account settings for this PC.
- 8. Under the *Other people* heading, select the user account you wish to remove to open options for that user (Figure 58).

Settings		-	U	×
Home	Your family			
Find a setting	Sign in with a Microsoft account to see your family here or add any new members to your family. Family members get their own sign-in and desktop. You can help kids stay safe with appropriate websites, time limits, apps, and games.			
RE Your info	Sign in with a Microsoft account			
Email & app accounts	Other people			
 Sign-in options Access work or school 	Allow people who are not part of your family to sign in with their own accounts. This won't add them to your family.			
A Family & other people	+ Add someone else to this PC			
C Sync your settings	PromegaService Administrator - Local account			
	B Technician Local account			
	Change account type Remove			
	Set up assigned access			

Figure 58. Removing an account. Select any of the listed Windows® user accounts to access the ability to remove an account.

3946TA

9. Select the **Remove** button to open the 'Delete account and data?' screen. There will be an indication that removing a user account will remove all of the user account data from the PC. Select **Delete account and data** to remove the selected account or **Cancel** to retain the account and return to the 'Accounts' screen.

Note: Removing a Windows[®] user account will only remove data in Windows[®] for this user account; it will not affect any of the data generated by this user in the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software.

10. If you selected **Delete account and data**, you have now removed a local Windows[®] user account from Windows[®] 10 and that account should no longer show up in the list of accounts shown under the *Other people* heading on the 'Accounts' screen. Select the **X** in the upper right corner of the 'Accounts' screen to close the screen.

11.5.3 Changing the Appearance of the 'Desktop' Screen for New Windows[®] User Accounts

The first time a new account logs in, there will be a delay of a few seconds while Windows® prepares the new user account and then the user will be presented with the Windows® 'Desktop' screen. The Maxprep™ Liquid Handler software icon will not appear on the 'Desktop' screen. Follow the instructions below to add the Maxprep™ Liquid Handler software icon to the Windows® 'Desktop' screen.

Getting to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software

- If you do not add the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software icon to the Windows[®] 'Desktop' screen, you will have to access the Start menu to open the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software.
- 2. From the 'Desktop' screen, select the **Start** button on the left side of the Task bar.
- 3. From the installed programs in the main part of the Start menu, scroll down to see the Promega folder. Select the **Promega** folder to expand the items within the folder.
- Right-click the Maxprep[™] item to open the options popup. Select the **Pin to Start** item (Figure 59, Panel A). This will create a Maxprep[™] icon on the right side of the Start menu (Figure 59, Panel B).



Figure 59. Creating a Maxprep[™] software icon. Panel A. Identify the Maxprep[™] icon in the Promega folder shown in the list of installed items on the PC. Right-click the Maxprep[™] icon to open the options popup. **Panel B.** After selecting **Pin to Start**, the Maxprep[™] icon will appear to the right of the installed items in the Start menu.

- 5. To add the Maxprep[™] icon to the Desktop, right-click the Maxprep[™] icon on the right side of the Start menu to see the Name group header displayed. Now select and drag the Maxprep[™] icon onto the 'Desktop' screen.
- 6. The Maxprep[™] software icon will appear on the desktop. Double-click the Maxprep[™] software icon to open the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software. Alternatively, you can select the Start button and select the Maxprep[™] icon on the right side of the Start menu to open the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software.

11.6 Managing Maxprep[™] Access Levels for a Windows[®] User Account

Access levels within the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software are controlled by assigning a Windows[®] user account to a Promega access-level group. The Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software supports the following user roles.

PromegaUser: PromegaUsers have the following capabilities:

- 1. Select and run preloaded methods
- 2. View and export results
- 3. Run Maintenance methods

PromegaAdministrator: PromegaAdministrators have the following capabilities:

- 1. All PromegaUser capabilities
- 2. Import/Delete methods
- 3. Import/Delete Labware
- 4. Create variant methods
- 5. Set software options
- 6. Set UV sanitization duration

When your Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler arrives, the PC will be configured with a Windows[®] user account called Maxprep. This account is password protected (Default Password = Promega), and is configured to have both Windows[®] administrator access rights and administrator-level access rights to the Maxprep[™] software.

Note: The PromegaServiceTechnicians group is only for use by Promega Service Representatives. Do not assign users to the PromegaServiceTechnicians group.

11.6.1 Assigning an Account to a Promega Access-Level Group

The instructions below detail the steps involved in adding a Windows[®] user account (whether local or domain) to one of the Promega access-level groups on the PC. All Windows[®] user accounts that will have access to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software must be added to either the PromegaUsers or PromegaAdministrators groups.

Notes:

- a. The PromegaServiceTechnicians group is only for use by Promega Service Representatives. Do not assign users to the PromegaServiceTechnicians group.
- b. Only a Windows[®] user account with administrator-level access in the Windows[®] operating system can assign accounts to a Promega Access-Level Group.

- 1. Close the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software if it is open. Select the **X** in the upper right corner of the screen, and then confirm that you want to exit.
- 2. From the 'Desktop' screen, select the **Search** icon on the left side of the Taskbar.
- 3. Select the 'Search' text box, and enter the text lusrmgr.msc (Figure 60, Panel A). Under the Best match header an item called lusrmgr.msc should appear; select this item to open the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen (Figure 60, Panel B).



Figure 60. Accessing Users and Groups. Panel A. Select the Search button in the taskbar and enter lusrmgr.msc into the search window to bring up the lusrmgr.msc item. Panel B. Selecting the lusrmgr.msc item from the search list opens the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen.



4. Double-click the **Groups** folder in the center part of the window to open the folder (Figure 61).

Figure 61. Groups folder. Access the PromegaAdministrators and PromegaUsers groups from the Groups folder on the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen.

5. There will be a list of groups shown in the center part of the screen. Near the bottom of this list you will see two groups (PromegaAdministrators and PromegaUsers) that are used to assign access level rights for the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software to Windows[®] user accounts.

Note: The PromegaServiceTechnicians group is only for use by Promega Service Representatives. Do not assign users to the PromegaServiceTechnicians group.

- 6. Depending on the access level you wish to enable for a particular user account, doubleclick either the **PromegaAdministrators** or the **PromegaUsers** list item.
- 7. This will open the 'PromegaAdministrators Properties' or the 'PromegaUsers Properties' screen (Figure 62, Panel A). Under the 'Members:' section of the window select the **Add...** button.
- 8. Now you will see the 'Select Users' screen (Figure 62, Panel B). In the section of the screen titled Enter the object names to select: type the username(s) of the account(s) that you wish to add to the selected group.

General	Select this object type:	
	Users or Built-in security principals	Object Types
Promega Administrators	From this location:	
	DESKTOP-UKJVOKD	Locations
Description:	Enter the object names to select (examples):	
	Technician	Check Name
Administrator Promega Service	Advanced	OK Cancel
Se 0.84		
Changes to a user's group membership		
Add Remove are not effective until the next time the		

Figure 62. Adding users to a Promega group. Panel A. The 'PromegaAdministrators Properties' or 'PromegaUsers Properties' screen lists the Windows[®] user accounts currently assigned to the specified group. Select **Add...** to add a new Windows[®] user account to the group. **Panel B.** On the 'Select Users' screen, enter the Windows[®] user account(s) names to be added to the selected group in the text box.

- 9. To check that the username you have entered is recognized by Windows[®], select the **Check Names** button. If the username is not recognized, a 'Name Not Found' window will open. Double-check the spelling of the username and enter it again.
- 10. Select **OK** to accept the username(s) that you have assigned to this group, and then select **OK** in the 'Properties' screen and close the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen.
- 11. The username(s) that you have assigned to the specified group should now be capable of running the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software with the specified access level.

12. Restart the PC for new account access levels to take effect. To do this, select the **Start** button in the lower left corner of the screen, and then select the **Power** icon and select the **Restart** item (Figure 63).



Figure 63. Power options popup. Selecting the **Power** button from the Start menu opens the Power options popup. This popup presents options for managing the PC power state.

13. To check the appropriate access level for the account, sign in to the PC as that account (see Section 11.7, Managing the Current Active Account) and open the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software.

14. Select the **Settings** button on the 'Home' screen of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software. If the account has Administrator-level access to the Maxprep[™] software, the **Administrator** button will appear on the 'Settings' screen (Figure 64). If the account has only User-level access to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software, the **Administrator** button will not appear on the 'Settings' screen.



Figure 64. Maxprep™ software 'Settings' screen. Windows® user accounts that have been added to the PromegaAdministrators group will be able to see the Administrator button on this screen.

11.6.2 Removing an Account from a Promega Access-Level Group

Access levels within the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software are controlled by assigning a Windows[®] user account to a Promega access-level group. The instructions below detail the steps involved in removing a Windows[®] user account from one of the Promega access-level groups. Once removed from Promega access-level groups, the specified Windows[®] user account will no longer have access to the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software.

Note: Only a Windows[®] user account with administrator-level access in the Windows[®] operating system can remove accounts from a Promega Access-Level Group.

- 1. Close the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler software if it is open. Select the **X** in the upper right corner of the screen, and then confirm that you want to exit.
- 2. From the 'Desktop' screen, select the **Search** icon on the right side of the Task bar.

3. Select the Search text box, and enter the text lusrmgr.msc (Figure 65, Panel A). Under the Best match header an item called lusrmgr.msc should appear. Select this item to open the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen (Figure 65, Panel B).



Figure 65. Accessing Users and Groups. Panel A. Select the Search button in the task bar and enter lusrmgr.msc into the search window to bring up the lusrmgr.msc item. **Panel B.** Selecting the lusrmgr.msc item from the search list opens the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen.

4. Double-click the **Groups** folder in the center part of the window to open the folder (Figure 66).

🔶 🙇 📰 🙆 🔒 📓	1			
Image: Second Seco	Name Access Control Assist Administrators Administrators Administrators Administrators Cryptographic Operat Cryptographic Operat	Description Members of this group can remot Backup Operators can ownink its Members are authorized to perfor Members are authorized to perfor Members are allowed to launch, a Members of this group can read e Guests have the same access as m Members of this group van explose com Built-in group used by Internet Inf Members of this group can have s Members of this group can acces Power Uners are included for back Members of this group can exces Supports file reglection in a dom Members of this group can acces Supports file reglection in a dom Members of this group are mana Users are prevented from making	Actions Groups More Actions	. ,

Figure 66. Groups folder. Access the PromegaAdministrators and PromegaUsers groups from the Groups folder on the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen.

- 5. There will be a list of groups shown in the center part of the screen. Near the bottom of this list you will see two groups (PromegaAdministrators and PromegaUsers) that are used to assign access level rights for the Maxprep[™] software to Windows[®] user accounts.
- 6. Depending on the access level from which you wish to remove a particular user, doubleclick either the **PromegaAdministrators** or the **PromegaUsers** list item.

7. This will open the 'PromegaAdministrators Properties' or the 'PromegaUsers Properties' screen. Under the *Members*: section of the screen, select the name of the user you wish to remove from this Promega access group (Figure 67).

		ner crea		ſ	^
ieneral					
Pror	mega Administra	tors			
Description:					
Members:					
Promega:	Service an				
Add	Service an Remove	Changes t are not eff user logs of	o a user's group fective until the n	members ext time t	ship the

Figure 67. Removing a Windows[®] user account from a Promega access-level group. Select the Windows[®] user account you wish to remove, and then select the **Remove** button.

- 8. Select the **Remove** button to remove this user from this Promega access group.
- 9. Select **OK** on the 'Properties' screen to accept the changes or select **Cancel** to discard the changes. Either selection will return you to the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen.
- 10. Close the 'Local Users and Groups (Local)' screen by selecting the **X** in the upper right corner of the screen.
- Restart the PC for new account access levels to take effect. To do this, select the Start button in the lower left corner of the screen, then select the Power icon and select the Restart item (Figure 68).



Figure 68. Power options popup. Selecting the **Power** button from the Start menu opens the Power options popup. This popup presents options for managing the PC power state.

11.7 Managing the Current Active Account

To correctly annotate functions in the Maxprep[™] software with the user performing the function, Windows[®] users need to switch to their accounts between sessions on the Maxprep[™] software. Windows[®] user accounts that are password-protected will need to sign in to the Windows[®] operating system. Use the following steps to switch users or sign out.

11.7.1 When Starting from a Currently Signed-in Account

- 1. From the 'Desktop' screen, select the **Start** button on the left side of the Task bar.
- 2. Select the **Accounts** icon to open the Account information popup (Figure 69).

Most used				
<i>s</i>	Paint			
	File Explorer			
<i>_</i>	Notepad			
	Control Panel			
Change acco	ount settings			
Lock				
Sign out				
8 Prome	egaService			
8 s	Promega			
	Search			
ن گ	Settings			
م 🔳	(])			

Figure 69. Account information popup. Accessed from the Start menu, this popup displays the Windows[®] user accounts on the PC and enables the current user to sign out of the Windows[®] operating system.

- 3. If you wish to sign out of the PC, select the **Sign out** item from the list. This will sign the current user out of the PC and return to the lock screen.
- 4. If you wish to remain signed in to the PC but wish to switch the current user to another account, select the username for the account you wish to open from the list of users. If the account is currently signed in, the PC will simply open to that account. If the account is not signed in, password entry will be required prior to opening to that account.

11.8 Shutting Down and Restarting

Occasionally you will need to shut down or restart the PC. The instructions below detail the process of shutting down or restarting the PC.

- 1. Close the Maxprep[™] software if it is open. Select the **X** in the upper left corner of the screen, and then confirm that you want to exit.
- 2. From the 'Desktop' screen, swipe upward from the bottom of the screen to expose the Task bar, and then select the **Start** button on the left side of the Task bar.
- 3. Select the **Power** icon to open the Power menu (Figure 70).



Figure 70. Power options popup. Selecting the Power button from the Start menu opens this popup, which presents options for managing the PC power state.

- 4. If you wish to shut down the PC, in the Power menu select the **Shut down** item.
- 5. If you wish to restart the PC, in the Power menu select the **Restart** item.
- 6. The PC will perform the selected item and either shut down or restart.

11.9 Connecting to a Network

The Maxprep[™] PC can connect to local networks through a wired eithernet connection. If you want to connect the PC to a site network, follow the instructions below.

Note: Consult your site IT department when connecting to the network so that the rules and regulations regarding network access for your site are followed.

The following is a set of guidelines for your IT personnel or site Administrator.

We do not recommend loading additional programs onto the PC because they may interfere with the instrument operation.

Some institutions require antivirus software installed on PCs within the institution. If installing an antivirus program, please ensure it is set to manual, not automatic, update.

Antivirus scanning will slow the performance of the PC and may affect the performance of the Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler while it is processing samples.

Additional recommendations:

- Disable automatic Windows® updates and virus scans.
- Disable automatic power off, sleep, or hibernation settings.
- Disable "Fast Startup". Set the power button to Shut Down not Sleep.
- Disable any other automatically or manually started software that would consume PC resources during operation.
- Ensure there are no domain policies that would overwrite any of the above settings.

Note: The PC that is provided with Maxprep[™] Liquid Handler is already configured for the settings listed above.

- 1. Connect an ethernet cable to the available ethernet port on the back of the computer and an ethernet network connection.
- 2. The computer should automatically detect the network after the ethernet cable is connected.

11.10 Adding a Network Printer

From the Maxprep^M software, you can print reports using a network printer. The printer you wish to use with the Maxprep^M software needs to be located on your network, and the PC should be connected to your network.

Note: Consult your site IT department when connecting to a network printer.

- 1. Close the Maxprep[™] software if it is open. Select the **X** in the upper left corner of the screen, and then confirm that you want to exit.
- 2. From the 'Desktop' screen, select the **Start** button on the left side of the Task bar.
- 3. Select the Settings button to open the 'Windows® Settings' screen (Figure 71).



Figure 71. The 'Windows Settings' screen. This screen provides access to multiple functions that can be used to configure options and settings for the PC.

4. Select the **Devices** button on the 'Windows Settings' screen to open the 'Devices' screen (Figure 72).

÷	Settings		-	×
Fir	Home Id a setting	Add printers & scanners + Add a printer or scanner		
B	Printers & scanners	Printers & scanners		
-8	Connected devices	Fax		
*	Bluetooth	Microsoft Print to PDF		
Ů	Mouse & touchpad			
88	Typing	Microsoft XPS Document Writer		
Ð	Pen & Windows Ink	Let Windows manage my default printer		
Þ	AutoPlay	When this is an Windows will act use default printer		
Ō	USB	one you used most recently at your current location.		
		Download over metered connections		
		To help prevent extra charges, keep this off so device software (drivers, info, and apps) for new devices won't download while you're on metered Internet connections.		

Figure 72. 'Devices' screen. Connecting to a network printer can be performed from this screen. The PC must be connected to a network to access network printers.

- 5. Select the + button next to the Add a printer or scanner option. The PC will automatically search the network for available printers that can be selected. This may take awhile.
- Once available printers are found, select the desired printer from the list and select the Next button. If the desired printer was not found on the network, consult with your IT department to resolve the issue.
- 7. Follow on-screen instructions for adding this printer to the PC.

$12\,$ Summary of Changes

The following changes were made to the 2/24 revision of this document:

- 1. Added new Cat.# AS9105 and AS9205.
- 2. Updated Sections 1, 2.1, 2.2, 3.1, 3.3, 4.2, 5.1, 5.3, 5.4 and 9.
- 3. Made minor text edits and formatting changes.
- 4. Updated the document font.
It is the manufacturer's responsibility to provide equipment electromagnetic compatibility information to the customer or user.

It is the user's responsibility to ensure that a compatible electromagnetic environment for the equipment can be maintained in order that the device will perform as intended.

© 2017-2024 Promega Corporation. All Rights Reserved.

GloMax and Maxwell are registered trademarks of Promega Corporation. Maxprep is a trademark of Promega Corporation.

Excel and Windows are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. Kimwipes is a registered trademark of Kimberly-Clark Worldwide, Inc. LpH is a registered trademark of Steris Corporation.

Products may be covered by pending or issued patents or may have certain limitations. Please visit our website for more information.

All prices and specifications are subject to change without prior notice.

Product claims are subject to change. Please contact Promega Technical Services or access the Promega online catalog for the most up-to-date information on Promega products.

